
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Emira Property Fund Limited (“the Company”), its subsidiaries and equity-accounted investments (together the “Group“) hold a major portfolio of investment properties 
in South Africa together with investments offshore into the USA. The Company is listed on the JSE.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on 26 October 2020. The shareholders do not have the 
power to amend the consolidated financial statements after issue.

This report was compiled under the supervision of Greg Booyens CA(SA), the Chief Financial Officer.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to 
all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), the SAICA Financial Reporting 
Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, JSE Listing 
Requirements and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, No 71 of 2008.

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the revaluation of investment property and financial assets 
and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments), which are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The financial statements are presented in Rand and are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period the 
assumptions changed. Management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 32.

When the reporting period of the holding company is different to that of the subsidiary, associate or joint venture, the subsidiary, associate or joint venture prepares, for 
the use of the holding company, financial statements as at the same date as the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

New and amended international financial reporting standards and interpretations

The Group has adopted the following new standards, or amendments to standards which were effective for the first time for the financial period commencing on or after 
1 January 2019:

 › Amendments to IFRS 9 — ‘Financial instruments’ on prepayment features with negative compensation and modification of financial liabilities.

 › IFRS 16 — Leases

 › IFRIC 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

 › Annual improvements cycle 2015 to 2017

Based on management’s assessment of the above, the only material impact on the financial statements relates to the application of IFRS 16, which is disclosed in note 2.2.

Standards and interpretations applicable to the Fund but not yet effective

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, certain new accounting standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been 
published but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. None of the below standards, amendments and interpretations are expected to have 
a material impact on the Group and will be adopted in the in financial period applicable as per the table below:

Amendment to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ — Definition of a business Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ and IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies, 
changes in accounting estimates and errors’ on the definition of material

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
measurement and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosure — Interest rate benchmark reform

Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Amendment to IFRS 16, COVID 19 related rental concessions Applicable from 1 June 2020, with early adoption permitted

Amendment to IAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

IFRS 16 — Leases

Lessor accounting
The Group acts as a lessor over all its leases over its Investment Property. These leases are classified as operating leases at lease inception. The Group recognises lease 
payments received under an operating lease as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term as part of Gross Property Revenue.

The Group makes payments to agents for services in connection with negotiating lease contracts with the Group’s lessees. The letting fees are capitalised to unamortised 
upfront lease costs and amortised over the lease term.

The Group did not need to make any adjustment to the accounting for assets held under operating leases as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16.

Lessee accounting
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is measured at the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made in advance, plus any initial direct costs incurred less any lease incentives received. A right-of-use asset in relation to 
leased land is recognised as Investment Property and a right-of-use asset in relation to leased office space is recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment.

The right-of-use asset recognised as Property, Plant and Equipment is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date of the lease to 
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the asset or the end of the lease term. Right-of-use asset recognised as Investment Property is subsequently measured at fair value.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, and if unavailable, the 
Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement of the finance lease liability comprise:

 › fixed payments; and

 › variable lease payments dependent on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the lease commencement date.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

A remeasurement occurs when there is a change in the future lease cash flows arising from a change in the Group’s assessment of whether it will exercise an extension or 
termination option or where variable payments become fixed. Where the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
underlying right-of-use asset.

Transition
IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance 
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and 
requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model.

Emira has adopted IFRS 16 — Leases from 1 July 2019 and has adopted the modified retrospective method of application. Emira has elected to use the transition practical 
expedient allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application.

In applying IFRS 16, the group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

 › Leases with a remaining term of 12 months or less from the date of application have been accounted for as short-term leases (i.e. not recognised on balance sheet) 
even though the initial term of the leases from lease commencement date may have been more than 12 months;

 › Initial direct costs have not been included in the measurement of the right-of-use asset as at the date of initial application; and

 › Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

On adoption, Emira has recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in relation to land leases which had previously been classified as operating leases under the 
principles of IAS 16 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate of 
7,4%. Subsequently each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Prior periods have not been restated.

On transition date, the right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability of R40,2m. The right-of-use assets relating to land leases are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value in terms of IAS 40. The right-of-use assets’ fair value is determined indirectly by assessing the cash generating ability of the building.

The aggregate lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position at 1 July 2019 and the Group’s lease commitment at 30 June 2019 is reconciled as follows:

R’000 2020

Lease commitments at 30 June 2019
Investment properties under leasehold agreements 75 619

Total lease commitments as at 1 July 2019 75 619

Effect of discounting on land leases (35 407)

Lease liability recognised as at 1 April 2019 40 212

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 continued

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

125



2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.3 CONSOLIDATION

2.3.1 Business combinations

Accounting for business combinations under IFRS 3 only applies if it is considered that a business has been acquired. Under IFRS 3 Business Combinations, a business 
is defined as an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return to investors or lower costs 
or other economic benefits directly and proportionately to shareholders or participants. A business generally consists of inputs, processes applied to those inputs, and 
resulting outputs that are, or will be, used to generate revenues. In the absence of such criteria, a Group of assets is deemed to have been acquired. If goodwill is present 
in a transferred set of activities and assets, the transferred set is presumed to be a business.

For acquisitions meeting the definition of a business, the acquisition method of accounting is used. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is 
the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests by the Group. The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest at the non-controlling interests proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The excess of the 
consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the consideration is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in the profit or loss for the year as a bargain purchase gain.

Acquisition-related costs in relation to business combinations are expensed as incurred.

For acquisitions not meeting the definition of a business, the Group allocates the cost between the individual identifiable assets and liabilities in the Group based on their 
relative fair values at the date of acquisition. Such transactions or events do not give rise to goodwill.

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like transactions. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the identifiable net assets.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.

2.3.2 Investment in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group exercises control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The existence and effect of 
potential voting rights that are substantive are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity, 
while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognised at fair value.

2.3.3 Investment in associates and joint ventures

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of 
the investee but is not control or joint control over these policies. Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method for both Group and Company.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have benefits derived from the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The profits and losses, asset and liabilities of associates and joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting for Group, except when the investment is classified as held-for-sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5. Investments in joint ventures 
are carried at cost for the Company.

Under the equity method the investment is initially recorded at cost and thereafter the carrying value is adjusted to recognise the Groups share of the post-acquisition 
profits or losses of the investee after the date of acquisition, distributions received and any impairment adjustments that are required. The share of profit of losses are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investments.

They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share 
of total Comprehensive Income of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which the Group loses significant influence.

2.4 OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is 
the person or Group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined that its chief operating 
decision maker is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

2.5.1 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in South African rand, the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s 
presentation currency.

2.5.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss for the year.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented net in the statements of comprehensive income within finance 
income or finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented net in the statements of comprehensive income within other losses or gains.

2.5.3 Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated to the Group’s presentation currency 
(rand) at exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated to rand at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions 
(an average rate per month is used). Foreign currency differences related to foreign operations are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income and accumulated in the 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve.

When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes foreign operations while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative 
amount is re-attributed to non-controlling interest. If control is not retained, the cumulative amount is reclassified from Other Comprehensive Income to profit or loss 
as a reclassification adjustment.

2.6 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Property, comprising both freehold and leasehold land and buildings, that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, is classified as investment 
property. Investment property is recognised initially at cost, including transaction costs.

Borrowing costs incurred for the purpose of acquiring, developing or producing qualifying investment property are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised 
while acquisition or development is actively underway and cease once the asset is substantially complete, or suspended if the development of the asset is suspended.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value which is adjusted for the carrying values of allowance for future rental escalations, tenant installations 
and unamortised upfront lease costs which are recognised as separate assets, so that these separately recognised assets are not double counted. Fair value is based on 
active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses 
alternative valuation methods, such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Valuations are performed as at the financial position date 
by professional valuers who hold recognised and relevant professional qualifications and have recent experience in the location and category of the investment property 
being valued. These valuations form the basis for the carrying amounts in the financial statements. Investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as 
investment property or for which the market has become less active continues to be measured at fair value.

Tenant installations and lease commissions are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Fair value measurement on property under development is only applied if the fair value is considered to be reliably measurable.

It may sometimes be difficult to reliably determine the fair value of the investment property under development. In order to evaluate whether the fair value of an 
investment property under development can be determined reliably, management considers the following factors, among others:

 › The provisions of the development contract

 › The stage of completion

 › Whether the project/property is standard (typical for the market) or non-standard

 › The level of reliability of cash inflows after completion

 › The development risk specific to the property

 › Past experience with similar developments

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases in light of 
current market conditions. The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any expected cash outflows that could be expected in respect of the property.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred.

When part of an investment property is replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The fair value of investment property does not reflect future capital expenditure that will improve or enhance the property and does not reflect the related future 
benefits from this future expenditure other than those a rational market participant would take into account when determining the value of the property.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Changes in fair values are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value, are included in net profit or loss for 
the period in which they arise. These gains or losses are transferred to non-distributable reserves in the statement of changes in equity.

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from its disposal.

Where the Group disposes of a property at fair value in an arm’s length transaction, the carrying value immediately prior to the sale is adjusted to the transaction price, 
and the adjustment is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income within net fair value gain on investment property.

2.7 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries are recognised at cost less impairment.

2.8 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example, goodwill — are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to 
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are Grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2.9.1 Initial recognition and measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and at amortised cost. Liabilities within the scope of IFRS 9 are classified 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or financial liabilities at amortised cost, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition.

The classification of financial assets is based on the business model with which the Fund holds the respective assets, as well as application of the cash flow characteristics test.

2.9.2 Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are held at amortised cost if the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, and interest is a consideration for the time value of money and 
credit risk only. Financial instruments with cash flows that are not solely payments of principle and interest are mandatorily classified at fair value through profit or loss. 
All equity instruments of the Group, within the scope of IFRS 9, are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current 
assets. The Group’s financial instruments at amortised cost comprise of “accounts receivable”, “loans receivable” and “cash and cash equivalents” in the statements of 
financial position.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

2.9.3 Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through 
profit or loss, or if the cash flows of the financial instruments are not solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) and do not meet the requirements to be classified 
at amortised cost.

Derivatives financial assets and liabilities are classified as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss and comprise mainly interest-rate swaps, 
share options and forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest-rate and foreign exchange rate 
risk arising from financing and investing activities (economic hedge).

Investments in the listed securities of property investment companies are designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception, and are financial instruments that 
are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the Fund’s documented investment strategy.

The Fund’s policy requires the CEO and the Board of Directors to evaluate the information about these financial assets and liabilities on a fair value basis together with 
other related financial information.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss.

2.9.4 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for services performed in the ordinary course of business and are included in “accounts receivable”.

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or 
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within accounts payable.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.9.5 Financial liabilities

All borrowings and accounts payable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for instances where an accounting 
mismatch exists and its more appropriate to designate it at fair value through profit or loss.

All financial liabilities, except derivative financial instruments, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 
or costs that are an integral part of the financial liability. The amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

The Group obtains deposits from tenants as a guarantee for returning the property at the end of the lease term in a specified good condition or for the lease payments 
for a period ranging from one to 12 months. Such deposits are treated as financial liabilities at amortised cost and are included in accounts payable.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the date of the 
Statement of Financial Position.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

2.10 IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The expected credit loss model of IFRS 9 applies to financial assets measured at amortised cost and lease receivables at reporting date. While cash and cash equivalents 
are classified and measured at amortised cost, and are also subject to these impairment requirements, they are considered to have low credit risk, and the expected 
credit loss is mitigated through the Groups’ credit risk management policy.

Expected credit losses (“ECLs”) are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses, based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that are expected to be received, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will 
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

For trade and other receivables, Emira has elected to apply the simplified approach in calculating the loss allowance. Therefore, The ECLs on trade receivables, are 
estimated using a provision matrix with reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtor, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtor operates and an assessment of both the current as well as the forward-
looking information of conditions based on lifetime expected credit loss at each reporting date.

At each reporting date, Emira assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost (such as long-term loans granted and loans granted to associates) have 
significantly increased in credit risk. The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, 
without recourse by the Group (if applicable) or if the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Expected credit loss allowances are measured on either of the following bases:

 › 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

 › lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

The carrying amount of financial assets is reduced directly by the impairment loss, with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through 
the use of an allowance account.

If in a subsequent period the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost had impairment 
had not been recognised at the reversal date. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

In certain cases, Emira may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Fund is unlikely to receive the 
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.11 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statements of Financial Position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.12 SHARE CAPITAL

Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown 
in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

2.13 TREASURY SHARES

Company shares held by the Emira Forfeitable Share Plan, ESA Trust and BEE Scheme entities that have not yet vested are classified as treasury shares on consolidation 
and presented as a deduction from equity. These shares are held at cost.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

On purchase, the cost of the shares acquired is deducted from equity. Subsequently, any gain or loss on the sale or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments 
is recognised directly in equity.

Both distributions and unrealised losses on own shares are eliminated from Group profit or loss for the year.

2.14 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Tax charges comprise current and deferred tax in respect of the Groups subsidiaries. Tax is recognised in profit or loss.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the date of the Statement of Financial Position. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which the applicable tax regulation is subject to provisions where appropriate on the 
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other 
than a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates 
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the date of the Statement of Financial Position and are expected to apply when the related deferred income 
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

2.15 PROVISIONS

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost.

Where the Group, as lessee, is contractually required to restore a leased property to an agreed condition prior to release by a lessor, provision is made for such costs 
as they are identified.

2.16 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue includes rental income from the listed property investment and operating cost recoveries from tenants, but excludes value added tax. Rental income from operating 
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. When the Group provides incentives to its tenants, the cost of incentives is recognised over the lease term, on 
a straight-line basis. The amount not yet recognised is capitalised as allowance for future rental escalations, which forms part of the value of investment property.

Emira acts as a principal on its own account when recovering operating costs from tenants.

Distribution income revenue from the listed property investment is recognised when the unit holder’s right to receive payment has been established.

2.17 DISTRIBUTIONS PAYABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Group has an obligation to distribute the net amount available for distribution, to its shareholders.

Distributions payable are recognised as a liability once the amount for distribution has been determined and declared by the Board. Distributions exclude items arising 
as a result of:

 › The unrealised fair value adjustments to investment properties

 › The unrealised gains and losses in respect of the fair valuing of financial assets through profit and loss

 › The income arising out of the straight-lining of lease income

2.18 INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE

Interest income and expense are recognised within “finance income” and “finance costs” in profit or loss using the effective interest-rate method, except for borrowing 
costs relating to qualifying assets, which are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

The effective interest-rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts throughout the expected life 
of the financial instrument, or a shorter period where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not consider 
future credit losses.

The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other 
premiums or discounts.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

2.19 OTHER EXPENSES

Expenses include legal, accounting, auditing and other fees. They are recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred (on an accruals basis).

2.20 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD-FOR-SALE

Investment properties are classified as held-for-sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. 
Investment properties held-for-sale are measured at fair value.

Investment property classified as held-for-sale is measured in accordance with IAS 40 Investment property at fair value, with gains or losses on subsequent measurement 
being recognised in profit or loss.

2.21 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2.21.1 Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are recognised as employee benefit expense and accrued when the associated services 
are rendered by the employees of the Group.

2.21.2 Defined contribution plans

The defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays contributions to a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation 
to pay further amounts if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense when the related services have been rendered.

2.21.3 Short-term incentive

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 
The bonuses are based on the achievement of pre-set KPIs that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Group’s shareholders after certain adjustments

2.21.4 Share-based payments

Share appreciation rights scheme — cash settled
The Group operates a share appreciation rights scheme that was formulated to reward certain employees who make a meaningful and sustainable contribution to the 
financial performance of Emira.

The scheme is accounted for as a cash-settled share-based payment. The Group recognises a liability and an expense for cash-settled share-based transactions. The liability 
on the cash-settled share-based transactions is measured, initially and at the end of each reporting period until settled, at the fair value of the share appreciation rights, 
by applying an option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions on which the share appreciation rights were granted, and the extent to which the 
employees have rendered services to date.

Forfeitable share plan — equity settled
The Group operates an equity-settled share-based forfeitable share plan for its employees.

The scheme is accounted for as an equity-settled share-based payment. The grant date fair value of forfeitable shares awarded to employees is recognised as an expense, 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for 
which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards 
that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.

Matching Share Scheme — equity settled
The Group operates an equity-settled share matching plan for its employees.

In terms of the matching share scheme, participants are encouraged to use their own funds to acquire Emira Property Fund Limited shares. Participants holding shares 
at the third anniversary of the date of award will be awarded Emira Property Fund Limited shares free of consideration based on a multiple of the original shares linked to 
the Group and individual’s performance, so long as they have achieved a minimum of 75% of their KPIs for the period.

The scheme is accounted for as an equity-settled share-based payment. The grant-date fair value of the matching scheme is recognised as an expense, with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the vesting period. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted for changes in management’s estimate of the number of shares expected to 
vest. such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that vest.
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3. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX CHARGE
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Expenses
Auditor’s remuneration 6 337 6 890 

— Audit fee 6 183 6 264 

— Non-audit fees 116 587 

— Expenses 39 39 

Operating lease payments — leasehold properties 17 072 18 474 

Payroll costs 44 819 52 863 

Transaction and advisory fees — 855 

Impairment of Worley Parsons receivable — 41 042 

IFRS2 charge — ESA Trust — 6 678 

IFRS2 charges on share schemes 5 743 3 008 

— Share appreciation rights scheme (3 417) (1 986)

— Forfeitable share plan 9 039 4 901 

— Share matching scheme 121 93 

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
GROUP

R’000
Basic

salary #
 Annual 
 bonus *

Share
scheme

payment

Dividends
received on
FSP shares  Total

Executive directors

2020
G Jennett (CEO) 3 862 5 765 — 895 10 522 

U van Biljon (COO) 2 653 2 954 — 620 6 227 

G Booyens (CFO) 2 619 3 093 — 557 6 269 

Total 9 134 11 812 — 2 073 23 019 

2019
G Jennett (CEO)  4 073  2 998  217  377  7 665 

U van Biljon (COO)  2 742  2 132  212  307  5 393 

G Booyens (CFO)  2 682  1 809  27  265  4 783 

Total  9 497  6 939  456  949  17 841 

#  All executive directors sacrificed 30% of their fees for April, May and June 2020 in favour of the Solidarity Fund, following the announcement of the COVID-19 lockdown.

*  Bonuses awarded with reference to the financial year ended 30 June 2020.
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3. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX CHARGE CONTINUED

SHARE APPRECIATION RIGHTS SCHEME SHARES HELD

Number of shares
 Balance at 

 30 June 2019 Exercised Issued Cancelled
 Balance at 

 30 June 2020 

Third tranche
G Jennett (CEO)  109 866  —  —  (109 866) — 

G Booyens (CFO)  87 892  —  —  (87 892) — 

U van Biljon (COO)  32 960  —  —  (32 960) — 

Total  230 718  —  — (230 718) — 

Fourth tranche
G Jennett (CEO)  1 053 334  —  —  (526 667)  526 667 

G Booyens (CFO)  833 334  —  —  (416 667)  416 667 

U van Biljon (COO)  483 334  —  —  (241 667)  241 667 

Total 2 370 002  —  — (1 184 998) 1 185 001 

Fifth tranche
G Jennett (CEO)  1 200 000  —  —  (400 000)  800 000 

G Booyens (CFO)  1 000 000  —  —  (333 333)  666 667 

U van Biljon (COO)  1 000 000  —  —  (333 333)  666 667 

Total  3 200 000  —  —  (1 066 666) 2 133 334 

FSP SHARES HELD

Number of shares
 Balance at 

 30 June 2019 Exercised Issued Cancelled
 Balance at 

 30 June 2020

First tranche
G Jennett (CEO)  147 900  —  —  —  147 900 

U van Biljon (COO)  124 800  —  —  —  124 800 

G Booyens (CFO)  114 100  —  —  —  114 100 

Total  386 800  —  —  —  386 800 

Second tranche
G Jennett (CEO)  193 500  —  —  —  193 500 

U van Biljon (COO)  137 600  —  —  —  137 600 

G Booyens (CFO)  116 800  —  —  —  116 800 

Total  447 900  —  —  —  447 900 

Third tranche
G Jennett (CEO)  —  —  459 250  —  459 250 

U van Biljon (COO)  —  —  235 326  —  235 326 

G Booyens (CFO)  —  —  246 399  —  246 399 

Total  —  —  940 975  —  940 975 

Notice period FSP
G Jennett (CEO)  22 446  —  —  —  22 446 

U van Biljon (COO)  29 629  —  —  —  29 629 

G Booyens (CFO)  14 624  —  —  —  14 624 

Total  66 699  —  —  —  66 699 
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3. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE INCOME TAX CHARGE CONTINUED

MATCHING SHARES HELD

Number of shares
 Balance at 

 30 June 2019 Exercised Issued Cancelled
 Balance at 

 30 June 2020

First tranche
G Jennett (CEO)  24 000 — — —  24 000 

U van Biljon (COO) — — — — —

G Booyens (CFO) — — — — —

Total  24 000 — — —  24 000 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
GROUP

R’000 2020 # 2019

G van Zyl (Chairman) 460 471 

MS Aitken 273 279 

BH Kent 411 466 

V Mahlangu 299 416 

NE Makiwane * 201 245 

W McCurrie 316 279 

V Nkonyeni 330 339 

J Nyker 301 53 

D Thomas 265 272 

Total  2 855  2 820 

#  All non-executive directors sacrificed 30% of their fees for April, May and June 2020 in favour of the Solidarity Fund, following the announcement of the COVID-19 lockdown.

*  Retired effective 1 April 2020.
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4. INCOME TAX CHARGE
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Major components of the income tax charge
Normal 4 127 —

 Current 4 127 —

 Adjustment to prior year — —

Deferred tax — (6 435)

 Current — —

 Adjustment to prior year — (6 435)

Foreign taxation 10 273 5 227 

 Foreign taxation — income 5 040 5 227 

 Foreign taxation — capital 5 233 —

14 400 (1 207)

Reconciliation of the tax charge
Profit for the year before income tax credit at 28% (2019: 28%) (200 693) 247 917 

Qualifying distributions (152 728) (221 481)

Fair value adjustments 409 231 (11 391)

Allowances for future rental escalations and upfront lease costs 693 3 630 

Non-taxable income (43 027) (49 469)

Non-deductible expenditure 16 339 12 336 

Unrealised foreign exchange gains (39 872) —

Other (4 438) (6 136)

Tax loss (utilised)/not carried forward 16 055 12 998 

Foreign withholding tax — income 5 040 5 227 

Capital gains tax 5 233 —

Items not include in profit before tax but which are subject to tax 2 567 5 161 

14 400 (1 207)

As the Fund is a REIT, in terms of Section 25BB of the Income Tax Act, it is able to claim a deduction in respect of qualifying distributions made to shareholders, against 
taxable income.

The foreign withholdings taxation arose as a result of the foreign dividends received from the USA subsidiary and provision for foreign income and capital gains taxes 
payable within the US.

Non-taxable income includes income from equity-accounted investments and non-vesting share-based payment adjustments.

Non-deductible expenditure, includes the impairment of investment in subsidiaries, expected credit losses, SARS interest and penalties as well as transaction and 
advisory fees.

Other includes items that are not deductible for tax purposes as well as amounts that are disregarded and/or forfeited for tax purposes, S24I deductions and capitalised interest.

Items not included in profit before tax but which are subject to tax includes interest received on loans outstanding from BEE parties where the loans and corresponding 
interest are not recognised for accounting purposes — see note 32, “Critical Accounting Estimates”.
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5. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Reconciliation between earnings and headline earnings
Profit for the year attributable to Emira shareholders (734 178) 882 509 

Adjusted for
Net fair value loss on revaluation of investment properties 816 505 46 685 

Net fair value loss on revaluation of investment properties of associates 3 546 —

Non-controlling interest portion of fair value adjustments — Bet All Investments 3 185 (2 676)

Gain on bargain purchase — (129 028)

Headline earnings 89 058 797 490 

Number of shares in issue at the end of the year 522 667 247 522 667 247 

Weighted average number of shares in issue 497 105 845 501 648 438 

Earnings per share (cents)
The calculation of earnings per share is based on net profit for the year of (R734,2) million (2019: R882,5 million), divided by the 
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 497 105 845 (2019: 501 648 438). (147,69) 175,92 

Diluted earnings per share (cents)
The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on net profit for the year of (R734,2) million (2019: R882,5 million), divided by 
the diluted weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 499 656 024 (2019: 502 978 415). (146,94) 175,76 

Headline earnings per share (cents)
The calculation of earnings per share is based on net profit for the year of R89,1 million (2019: R797,5 million), divided by the 
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 497 105 845 (2019: 501 648 438). 17,92 158,97 

Diluted headline earnings per share (cents)
The calculation of earnings per share is based on net profit for the year of R89,1 million (2019: R797,5 million), divided by the diluted 
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 499 656 024 (2019: 502 978 415). 17,82 158,55 

Reconciliation of diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares
Actual ordinary shares in issue at 1 July 522 667 247 522 667 247 

Vendor funded shares under the BEE scheme i (15 811 224) (12 370 510)

Treasury shares acquired for the forfeitable share plan ii (2 550 179) (1 448 299)

Treasury shares held by the ESA Trust iii (7 200 000) (7 200 000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 497 105 845 501 648 438 

Issued for zero consideration under the call option to BEE parties, Treasury shares issued to the ESA Trust and Forfeitable Share Plan 2 550 179 1 329 977 

Diluted weighted average number of shares in issue 499 656 024 502 978 415 

i  Emira shares relating to the outstanding capital on the Vendor Loans provided to the BEE Parties under Emira’s June 2017 BEE Scheme, classified as treasury shares upon consolidation of BEE Scheme.

ii  Emira shares held by Emira’s Forfeitable Share Plan, classified as treasury shares.

iii  Emira shares held by the ESA Trust are classified as treasury shares upon consolidation of the ESA Trust.
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6. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Net carrying value
Cost ̂ 7 392 707 6 884 814

Fair value surplus ̂ 2 556 519 3 801 616

Investment properties held for sale — (138 250)

Right of use lease asset 40 212 —

9 989 438 10 548 180 

Movement for the year — —

Balance at beginning of year 10 548 180 10 385 240

Additions — subsequent expenditure on investment property ̂ 144 452 324 166

Disposal of investment property at fair value * (66 250) (1 844 862)

Reallocations 3 737 —

Deficit on revaluation (816 505) (46 685)

Tenant installations and lease commissions (2 638) —

— costs capitalised 8 732 —

— amortisation (11 370) —

Transfer from non-current assets held for sale 138 250 1 730 321

Right of use lease asset 40 212 —

Balance at end of year 9 989 438 10 548 180 

Reconciliation to independent and directors’ valuations
Valuation at 30 June 2020 9 989 438 10 548 180

Allowance for future rental escalations 225 622 222 731

Unamortised upfront lease costs 32 553 32 425

Investment property held for sale — 138 250

Independent and directors' valuations at 30 June 2020 10 247 612 10 941 586 

*  1059 Francis Baard was transferred to Inani on 20 December 2019, thereby concluding the office portfolio disposal to Inani.

^   Emira has enhanced its disclosure by the aggregation of fixtures and fittings in relation to Investment Property measure at fair value in terms of IAS 40, where previously separately disclosed. The enhanced presentation further allows for 
consistent and comparable information to industry standards.

Full details of freehold and leasehold investment properties owned by the Group are available for inspection at Emira’s registered office.

The properties were valued as at 30 June 2020 using a discounted cash flow approach based on future income streams, applying an appropriate capitalisation rate 
to each property. In terms of its accounting policy and JSE regulations, one third of the Group’s property portfolio is valued annually by independent valuers, with the 
balance valued by the directors. The Independent valuations were carried out by Real Insight, Yield Enhancing Solutions and Premium Valuation Services, all registered 
valuers in terms of section 19 of the Property Valuers Profession Act (Act No. 47 of 2000). For further details on the measurement of fair value, please refer to note 30.

The right of use asset was recognised in the current financial period to investment property, upon first time adoption of IFRS 16 Leases. Refer to note 2.2, for further 
information on the first time adoption.

Investment property classified as held for sale in the year ended 30 June 2019, was reclassified from held for sale to investment property in the current reporting period. 
The asset is not available for immediate sale in its present condition, as per the conditions precedent of the sale agreement it is subject to the sub-division of its Erf, 
to which the timing of completion thereof is uncertain.

Investment properties to the value of R7 795,0 million (2019: R8 309,8 million) have been used to provide security for loans taken out. See note 17.
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7. ALLOWANCE FOR FUTURE RENTAL ESCALATIONS
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Balance at beginning of year 222 731 208 420 

Net straight-lining for the year (846) (11 816)

Reallocations 3 737 —

Transfer within group — —

Investment properties held for sale — 26 127 

Balance at year-end 225 622 222 731 

Current portion 44 021 30 939 

8. UNAMORTISED UPFRONT LEASE COSTS
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Balance at beginning of year 32 425 32 915 

Net smoothing for the year (743) (1 738)

Unamortised lease commission 872 (13 286)

Investment properties held for sale — 14 534 

Balance at year-end 32 554 32 425 

9. FURNITURE, FITTINGS, COMPUTER EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Cost 5 317 3 025 

Accumulated amortisation/depreciation (2 458) (77)

Carrying value 2 859 2 948 

Movement for the year
Opening balance 2 948 —

Reallocations 284 —

Additions 386 3 025 

Amortisation/depreciation (759) (77)

Net carrying value 2 859 2 948 

Furniture, fittings, computer equipment and intangible assets in owner occupied property are stated at historic cost less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and any 
impairment losses.

Depreciation/amortisation is charged so as to write off the cost less residual value of assets over their expected useful lives, using the straight-line basis.

The principle useful lives used for this purpose are:

Computer equipment 3 years

Furniture and fittings 6 years

Computer software 5 years
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS
GROUP

R’000 Principal place of business
Effective voting

rights (%) 2020 2019

Joint venture
Enyuka Prop Holdings (Pty) Ltd South Africa 49,90 643 288 678 882 

Associates
Transcend Residential Property Fund Ltd South Africa 34,90 505 813 571 908 

Belden Park Delaware LLC United States of America 46,67 174 398 153 930 

Rainier Moore Plaza LLC United States of America 49,50 248 679 170 508 

32 East Center Delaware LLC United States of America 49,42 79 722 63 884 

Rainier Stony Creek LLC United States of America 49,43 106 186 91 547 

Rainier Woodlands Square LLC United States of America 49,57 196 359 176 316 

Rainier Truman's Marketplace LLC United States of America 49,51 137 763 90 729 

Rainier SA Crossing LLC United States of America 49,50 84 201 58 620 

Rainier Wheatland Investors LLC United States of America 49,60 132 062 83 598 

Rainier UTC LLC United States of America 49,64 232 167 175 602 

Rainier Dawsons Market Place LLC United States of America 49,60 238 290 —

Carrying amount 2 778 926 2 315 524 

GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Reconciliation of equity-accounted investments
Opening balance 1 583 159 518 159 

Acquisition of equity-accounted interest 242 874 887 908 

Share in equity-accounted profit 144 207 258 833 

Dividends received (145 936) (78 654)

Foreign currency translation 266 688 (3 087)

Carrying amount 2 090 992 1 583 159 

Reconciliation of loans advanced to equity-accounted investments
Opening balance 732 365 587 785 

Capital advanced — 143 461 

Expected credit loss (5 725) (4 928)

Interest accrued 94 917 85 350 

Repaid during the year (133 623) (79 303)

Carrying amount 687 934 732 365 
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

JOINT VENTURE: ENYUKA PROP HOLDINGS (PTY) LTD
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 1 July 2017

Primary place of business South Africa

Proportion ownership of interest 49,90%

Carrying value of Emira Property Fund's interest in Enyuka
Opening balance 87 603 60 401 

Initial cost — —

Change from subsidiary to joint venture — —

Share in post acquisition reserves (28 989) 27 202 

Equity-accounted investment 58 614 87 603 

Loan (net of expected credit loss) 584 674 591 279 

Total 643 288 678 882 

Enyuka is the rural retail venture between Emira and One Property Holdings (“One Prop”).

Management has concluded that in terms of IAS 28: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, Emira jointly controls Enyuka hence Enyuka is equity-accounted.

The loan advanced to Enyuka is unsecured and interest was charged at a rate of 13,99% (2019: 13,39%) for the year ended 30 June 2020. Interest escalates at 6% 
per annum. Interest is repayable quarterly and capital is repayable on maturity.

Further disclosure on Enyuka is included in note 32.

The credit risk of the loan to Enyuka Prop Holdings (Pty) Ltd was assessed and an expected credit loss of R10,4m (2019: R3,3m) was raised. Refer to note 31 for 
further information.

LOCAL ASSOCIATES

ASSOCIATE: TRANSCEND RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY FUND LTD
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 13 December 2018

Primary place of business South Africa

Proportion ownership of interest 34,90%

Carrying value of Emira Property Fund's interest in Transcend
Opening balance 430 822 —

Initial cost — 294 187 

Fair value through profit and loss — 25 842 

Gain on bargain purchase — 129 028 

Share in post acquisition reserves 1 487 (2 438)

Dividend received (29 757) (15 797)

Equity-accounted investment 402 552 430 822 

Loan (net of expected credit loss) 103 261 141 086 

Total 505 812 571 908 

Transcend, which is listed on the JSE Main Board, was identified as an avenue through which Emira could enhance the diversification of the Company into the residential 
rental market, given Transcend’s expertise in specialised residential property assets and access to significant pipeline opportunities. This strategy is in line with Emira’s 
co-investment strategy with hands-on sector specialists who have good track records of success in their markets.

Emira provided a mezzanine loan of R143,4m to Transcend on 13 December 2018 upon which a 1,5% raising fee was charged. Interest is charged at a rate of 3,95% 
(2019: 3,5%) margin above the three-month JIBAR and is repayable on 30 June 2021. The carrying amount approximates the fair value thereof.

The credit risk of the loan to Transcend Residential Property Fund Ltd was assessed and an expected credit loss of R0,3m (2019: R2,9m) was raised. Refer to note 31 for 
further information.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

FOREIGN ASSOCIATES

Emira has continued with its strategy of investing into grocery-anchored dominant value oriented power centres in the USA, with one further acquisition made during the 
current financial period. Emira now has a minority share in ten properties, all on a co-investment basis with its USA-based partner, The Rainier Group of Companies (“Rainier”).

An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee but is not control or joint control over these policies.

Emira’s holds a 100,00% equity investment in CIL 2 LLC, which is the holding company of CIL2 REIT LLC. CIL2 REIT LLC does not exercise control over any of the USA property 
owning entities in terms of their financial and operating policy decisions. Emira does not have board representation, nor has there been any exchange of managerial personnel 
and Emira does not provide any guarantees or extend any credit thereto. However, Emira does exercise significant influence over the acquisitions and disposals of the 
investments made by CIL2 REIT LLC and each investment is equity-accounted.

ASSOCIATE: BELDEN PARK DELAWARE LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 17 October 2017

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 46,67%

Carrying value
Opening balance 153 930 120 872 

Additional investment — —

Share of profit/(loss) in associate (2 114) 44 393 

Dividends received (12 949) (14 262)

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 35 531 2 927 

174 398 153 930 

Belden Park Delaware LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as Belden 
Park Crossing, located in North Canton, Ohio.

Dividends of USD756 000 (2019: USD1 008 000) were received by Emira from its investments in Belden Park Delaware LLC.

ASSOCIATE: RAINIER MOORE PLAZA LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 18 January 2018

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,50%

Carrying value
Opening balance 170 508 183 875 

Additional investment 15 459 1 681 

Share in post acquisition reserves 46 074 (1 173)

Dividends received (27 448) (18 731)

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 44 087 4 855 

248 679 170 508 

Rainier Moore Plaza LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as Moore 
Plaza, located in Corpis Christi, Texas.

Dividends of USD1 602 547 (2019: USD1 323 870) were received by Emira from its investments in Rainier Moore Plaza LLC.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

ASSOCIATE: 32 EAST CENTER DELAWARE LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 19 January 2018

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,42%

Carrying value
Opening balance 63 884 61 584 

Additional investment — —

Share in post acquisition reserves 6 904 7 945 

Dividends received (6 551) (7 216)

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 15 486 1 571 

79 722 63 884 

32 East Centre Delaware LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as 32 East, 
located in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Dividends of USD382 500 (2019: USD510 000) were received by Emira from its investments in 32 East Delaware LLC.

ASSOCIATE: RAINIER STONY CREEK ACQUISITIONS LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 28 March 2018

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,43%

Carrying value
Opening balance 91 547 91 427 

Additional investment — —

Share in post acquisition reserves 4 187 9 924 

Dividends received (11 162) (12 155)

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 21 613 2 351 

106 186 91 547 

Rainier Stony Creek Acquisitions LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as 
Stony Creek, located in Noblesville, Indiana.

Dividends of USD651 687 (2019: USD859 059) were received by Emira from its investments in Rainier Stony Creek Acquisitions LLC.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

ASSOCIATE: RAINIER WOODLANDS SQUARE LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 26 October 2018

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,57%

Carrying value
Opening balance 176 316 —

Initial investment — 178 297 

Share in post acquisition reserves (2 436) 13 025 

Dividends received (18 174) (8 627)

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 40 653 (6 379)

196 359 176 316 

Rainier Woodlands Square LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as 
Rainier Woodlands, located in Tampa, Florida.

Dividends of USD1 061 062 (2019: USD609 404) were received by Emira from its investments in Rainier Woodlands Square LLC.

ASSOCIATE: RAINIER TRUMAN’S MARKETPLACE LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 21 December 2018

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,51%

Carrying value
Opening balance 90 729 —

Initial investment — 88 869 

Share in post acquisition reserves 32 346 6 717 

Dividends received (9 489) (1 080)

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 24 177 (3 777)

137 763 90 729 

Rainier Truman’s Marketplace LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as 
Truman’s Marketplace, located in Grandview, Missouri.

Dividends of USD554 023 (2019: USD76 232) were received by Emira from its investments in Rainier Truman’s Marketplace LLC.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

ASSOCIATE: RAINIER SA CROSSING LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 27 February 2019

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,50%

Carrying value
Opening balance 58 620 —

Initial investment — 57 895 

Share in post acquisition reserves 17 664 903 

Dividends received (7 373) (788)

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 15 291 609 

84 201 58 620 

Rainier SA Crossing LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as SA Crossing, 
located in San Antonio, Texas.

Dividends of USD430 487 (2019: USD55 020) were received by Emira from its investments in Rainier SA Crossing LLC.

ASSOCIATE: RAINIER WHEATLAND INVESTORS LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 29 March 2019

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,60%

Carrying value
Opening balance 83 598 —

Initial investment — 88 939 

Share in post acquisition reserves 36 328 (3 734)

Dividends received (10 749) —

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 22 884 (1 607)

132 062 83 598 

Rainier Wheatland Investors LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as 
Wheatland, located in Dallas, Texas.

Dividends of USD627 559 (2019: nil) were received by Emira from its investments in Rainier Wheatland Investors LLC.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

ASSOCIATE: RAINIER UTC LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 24 June 2019

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,64%

Carrying value
Opening balance 175 602 —

Initial investment — 178 038 

Share in post acquisition reserves 25 568 1 200 

Dividends received (12 283) —

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 43 281 (3 637)

232 167 175 602 

Rainier UTC LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the property known as UTC, located in 
Norman, Oklahoma.

Dividends of USD717 138 (2019: nil) were received by Emira from its investments in Rainier UTC LLC.

ASSOCIATE: RAINIER HENDON DAWSON MARKETPLACE ACQUISITIONS LLC
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Acquisition date 3 February 2020

Primary place of business United States of America

Proportion ownership of interest 49,60%

Carrying value
Opening balance — —

Initial investment 227 415 —

Share in post acquisition reserves 7 189 —

Dividends received — —

Foreign currency translation movement through other comprehensive income 3 685 —

238 290 —

Rainier Hendon Dawson Marketplace Quisitions LLC is a limited liability company registered in the State of Delaware, United States of America, and is the owner of the 
property known as Dawson Marketplace, located in Dawsonville, Georgia.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

SUMMARISED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Summarised financial information for each of the associates is presented below and represents the financial information included in its own financial statements, 
adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition and differences in accounting policies. The table also reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying 
amount of the Group’s interest.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION *

2020

Enyuka
Prop Holdings 

 R’000 

Transcend
Residential

Property Fund
R’000

 Belden Park
Delaware LLC

 USD’000 

 Rainier Moore
Plaza LLC
 USD’000 

32 East Center
Delaware LLC

 USD’000 

Rainier Stony
Creek LLC
 USD’000

Functional currency ZAR ZAR USD USD USD USD

Sector Local —
Rural retail

Local —
residential

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Effective interest (%) 49,90 34,90 46,67 49,50 49,42 49,43 

ASSETS

Non-current assets 1 655 500 2 717 002 67 810 70 555 28 850 32 013 

Investment property 1 655 500 2 714 851 67 810 70 555 28 850 32 013 

Fixtures and fittings — 2 151 — — — — 

Derivative financial instruments — — — — — — 

Current assets 40 928 39 549 5 223 4 863 1 566 2 616 

Accounts receivable 16 677 5 879 1 955 1 776 763 1 193 

Cash and cash equivalents 24 251 33 670 3 268 3 087 804 1 423 

Total assets 1 696 428 2 756 551 73 033 75 418 30 416 34 629 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 57 462 1 153 048 20 912 27 190 9 202 12 271 

Share capital and reserves 13 089 1 020 934 12 596 28 454 6 497 13 150 

Preference share capital — — — — — — 

Retained Income 44 374 132 114 8 316 (1 264) 2 705 (879)

Non-current liabilities 1 609 648 1 556 529 50 184 46 628 20 695 21 291 

Loans from shareholders 671 552 103 447 — — — — 

Interest-bearing debt 907 134 1 367 465 50 184 46 628 20 695 21 291 

Other long-term liabilities 10 136 — — — — — 

Derivative financial instruments 20 827 85 617 — — — — 

Current liabilities 29 317 46 974 1 937 1 600 519 1 067 

Accounts payable 29 317 46 974 1 937 1 600 519 1 067 

Interest-bearing debt — — — — — — 

Total equity and liabilities 1 696 428 2 756 551 73 033 75 418 30 416 34 629 

*   The information in Enyuka Prop Holdings was extracted from Enyuka’s audited financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2020. The independent external auditors of Enyuka are BDO South Africa Inc. The information in relation to the USA 
investments were extracted from the audited trail balances for the year ended 30 June 2020. The independent auditors of the USA associates are Whitley Penn LLP.

#  The information for Transcend was extracted from Transcend’s interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2020, as announced on SENS on 13 August 2020.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION * CONTINUED

2020

Rainier
Woodlands
Square LLC

USD’000

Rainier
Truman’s

Marketplace LLC
USD’000

Rainier SA
Crossing LLC

 USD’000 

Rainier
Wheatland

Investors LLC
 USD’000 

Rainier
UTC LLC

 USD’000

Rainier
Hendon Dawson

Marketplace LLC
 USD’000 

Functional currency USD USD USD USD USD USD

Sector 
Offshore —

retail
Offshore —

retail
Offshore —

retail
Offshore —

retail
Offshore —

retail
Offshore —

retail

Effective interest (%) 49,57 49,51 49,50 49,60 49,64 49,60 

ASSETS

Non-current assets 62 038 33 706 19 878 34 175 63 543 78 737 

Investment property 62 038 33 706 19 878 34 175 63 543 78 737 

Fixtures and fittings — — — — — — 

Derivative financial instruments — — — — — — 

Current assets 3 240 3 866 3 022 2 707 4 881 9 643 

Accounts receivable 1 497 996 52 634 1 189 448 

Cash and cash equivalents 1 743 2 870 2 971 2 072 3 693 9 195 

Total assets 65 278 37 572 22 901 36 882 68 424 88 380 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 22 812 15 828 9 802 15 397 26 434 32 059 

Share capital and reserves 24 650 12 220 8 400 12 500 24 970 38 169 

Preference share capital — — — — — — 

Retained Income (1 838) 3 608 1 402 2 897 1 464 (6 110)

Non-current liabilities 41 696 19 814 12 770 20 850 40 889 55 390 

Loans from shareholders — — — — — — 

Interest-bearing debt 41 696 19 814 12 770 20 850 40 889 55 390 

Other long-term liabilities — — — — — — 

Derivative financial instruments — — — — — — 

Current liabilities 770 1 931 328 635 1 101 931 

Accounts payable 770 1 931 328 635 1 101 931 

Interest-bearing debt — — — — — — 

Total equity and liabilities 65 278 37 572 22 901 36 882 68 424 88 380 

*   The information in Enyuka Prop Holdings was extracted from Enyuka’s audited financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2020. The independent external auditors of Enyuka are BDO South Africa Inc. The information in relation to the USA 
investments were extracted from the audited trail balances for the year ended 30 June 2020. The independent auditors of the USA associates are Whitley Penn LLP.

#  The information for Transcend was extracted from Transcend’s interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2020, as announced on SENS on 13 August 2020.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION *

2019

Enyuka
Prop Holdings

 R’000 

Transcend
Residential

Property Fund
R’000

 Belden Park
Delaware LLC 

 USD’000 

 Rainier Moore
Plaza LLC 
 USD’000 

32 East Center
Delaware LLC 

 USD’000 

Rainier Stony
Creek LLC 
 USD’000

Functional currency ZAR ZAR USD USD USD USD

Sector Local —
Rural retail

Local —
residential

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Effective interest (%) 49,90 34,90 46,67 49,50 49,42 49,43 

ASSETS

Non-current assets 1 146 675 2 822 164 72 005 70 525 29 290 32 574 

Investment property 1 146 675 2 819 234 72 005 70 525 29 290 32 574 

Fixtures and fittings — 2 930 — — — —

Derivative financial instruments — — — — — —

Current assets 22 092 110 906 4 675 4 735 1 230 2 137 

Accounts receivable 3 905 6 808 1 052 1 489 300 526 

Cash and cash equivalents 18 188 104 097 3 623 3 246 930 1 612 

Total assets 1 168 767 2 933 070 76 681 75 260 30 520 34 712 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 88 972 1 279 316 24 498 23 734 9 194 12 710 

Share capital and reserves 13 089 1 020 934 15 041 27 182 7 371 12 501 

Preference share capital — — — — — —

Retained Income 75 883 258 382 9 457 (3 447) 1 822 209 

Non-current liabilities 1 054 520 1 600 410 50 651 49 987 20 979 21 251 

Loans from shareholders 660 429 520 720 — — — —

Interest-bearing debt 370 562 1 068 347 50 651 49 987 20 979 21 251 

Other long-term liabilities 22 226 — — — — —

Derivative financial instruments 1 303 11 343 — — — —

Current liabilities 25 275 53 344 1 531 1 538 348 750 

Accounts payable 25 275 53 344 1 531 1 538 348 750 

Interest-bearing debt — — — — — —

Total equity and liabilities 1 168 767 2 933 070 76 681 75 260 30 520 34 712 

*  The information for Enyuka was extracted from Enyuka’s audited financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2019. The independent external auditors of Enyuka are BDO South Africa Inc.

#  The information for Transcend was extracted from Transcend’s interim financial statements for the six-months ended 30 June 2019 as announced on SENS on 8 August 2019.

^  The information for the foreign US associates was extracted from the audited trial balances of the associates for the 12-months ended 30 June 2019. The independent external auditors of the USA associates are Whitley Penn LLP.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION * CONTINUED

2019

Rainier
Woodlands
Square LLC

USD’000

Rainier
Truman’s

Marketplace LLC
USD’000

Rainier SA
Crossing LLC 

 USD’000 

Rainier
Wheatland

Investors LLC 
 USD’000 

Rainier
UTC LLC 

 USD’000

Functional currency USD USD USD USD USD

Sector Local —
Rural retail

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Offshore —
retail

Effective interest (%) 49,57 49,43 49,50 49,42 49,64 

ASSETS

Non-current assets 64 964 31 058 20 312 31 706 63 768 

Investment property 64 964 31 058 20 312 31 706 63 768 

Fixtures and fittings — — — — — 

Derivative financial instruments — — — — — 

Current assets 3 177 3 266 2 031 2 879 3 038 

Accounts receivable 609 765 26 709 193 

Cash and cash equivalents 2 568 2 501 2 004 2 170 2 845 

Total assets 68 141 34 324 22 343 34 586 66 806 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 25 107 12 698 8 131 11 976 24 995 

Share capital and reserves 24 650 11 969 8 400 12 500 24 818 

Preference share capital — — — — — 

Retained Income 457 729 (269) (524) 177 

Non-current liabilities 41 629 19 836 13 944 20 793 40 814 

Loans from shareholders — — — — — 

Interest-bearing debt 41 629 19 836 13 944 20 793 40 814 

Other long-term liabilities — — — — — 

Derivative financial instruments — — — — — 

Current liabilities 1 405 1 790 268 1 816 997 

Accounts payable 1 405 1 790 268 1 816 997 

Interest-bearing debt — — — — — 

Total equity and liabilities 68 141 34 324 22 343 34 586 66 806 

*  The information for Enyuka was extracted from Enyuka’s audited financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2019. The independent external auditors of Enyuka are BDO South Africa Inc.

#  The information for Transcend was extracted from Transcend’s interim financial statements for the six-months ended 30 June 2019 as announced on SENS on 8 August 2019.

^  The information for the foreign US associates was extracted from the audited trial balances of the associates for the 12-months ended 30 June 2019. The independent external auditors of the USA associates are Whitley Penn LLP.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME *

2020

Enyuka
Prop Holdings

 R’000 

Transcend
Residential

Property Fund
R’000

 Belden Park
Delaware LLC 

 USD’000 

 Rainier Moore
Plaza LLC 
 USD’000 

32 East Center
Delaware LLC 

 USD’000 

Rainier Stony
Creek LLC 
 USD’000

Revenue 221 548 354 503 8 138 7 504 3 009 3 966 

Other income 690 6 392 40 2 674 33 87 

Expenditure
Operating expenses (90 787) (148 421) (1 659) (2 113) (693) (1 392)

Operating profit 131 451 212 474 6 519 8 065 2 349 2 661 

Fair value adjustments (25 875) (117 861) (4 382) 241 (470) (766)

Finance income 1 405 5 551 1 — — —

Finance costs (150 581) (141 171) (2 425) (2 395) (997) (1 032)

Profit before income tax charge (43 600) (41 007) (287) 5 911 883 863 

Taxation 13 395 — — — — — 

Profit for the year (30 205) (41 007) (287) 5 911 883 863 

Emira's share of profit/(loss) (28 989) (14 311) (134) 2 913 436 427 

2020

Rainier
Woodlands
Square LLC

USD’000

Rainier
Truman’s

Marketplace LLC
USD’000

Rainier SA
Crossing LLC 

 USD’000 

Rainier
Wheatland

Investors LLC 
 USD’000 

Rainier
UTC LLC 

 USD’000

Rainier
Hendon Dawson

Marketplace LLC
 USD’000 

Revenue 6 341 4 941 2 518 4 187 6 887 2 249 

Other income 4 48 862 7 220 1 

Expenditure
Operating expenses (1 607) (2 393) (899) (1 570) (1 594) (522)

Operating profit 4 738 2 596 2 481 2 624 5 513 1 729 

Fair value adjustments (2 998) 2 573 472 2 874 (497) — 

Finance income — — — — 3 1 

Finance costs (2 041) (1 042) (697) (872) (1 769) (808)

Profit before income tax charge (301) 4 127 2 256 4 626 3 249 922 

Taxation — — — — — — 

Profit for the year (301) 4 127 2 256 4 626 3 249 922 

Emira's share of profit/(loss) (149) 2 043 1 117 2 295 1 613 455 

*   The information in relation to the USA investments were extracted from the audited trial balances for the year ended 30 June 2020. The independent auditors of the USA associates are Whitley Penn LLP. The information in relation to the USA 
investments were extracted from the audited trail balances for the year ended 30 June 2020. The independent auditors of the USA associated are Whitley Penn LLP.
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10. INVESTMENTS AND LOANS IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME *

2019

Enyuka
Prop Holdings

 R’000 

Transcend
Residential

Property Fund
R’000

 Belden Park
Delaware LLC 

 USD’000 

 Rainier Moore
Plaza LLC 
 USD’000 

32 East Center
Delaware LLC 

 USD’000 

Rainier Stony
Creek LLC 
 USD’000

Revenue 176 461 90 012 8 976 9 002 3 289 4 028 

Other income 453 554 — 72 — — 

Expenditure
Operating expenses (63 147) (36 601) (2 650) (4 188) (738) (1 216)

Operating profit 113 766 53 965 6 327 4 887 2 551 2 812 

Fair value adjustments 50 031 (26 762) 3 671 (2 800) (409) (691)

Finance income 997 2 103 — — — — 

Finance costs (119 612) (36 292) (2 420) (2 283) (1 006) (1 029)

Profit before income tax charge 45 181 (6 986) 7 577 (196) 1 136 1 091 

Taxation (9 594) — — — — — 

Profit for the year 35 587 (6 986) 7 577 (196) 1 136 1 091 

Emira's share of profit/(loss) 27 202 (2 438) 3 536 (97) 562 540 

2019

Rainier
Woodlands
Square LLC

USD’000

Rainier
Truman’s

Marketplace LLC
USD’000

Rainier SA
Crossing LLC 

 USD’000 

Rainier
Wheatland

Investors LLC 
 USD’000 

Rainier
UTC LLC 

 USD’000

Revenue 4 514 2 658 848 979 180 

Other income — — — (791) — 

Expenditure
Operating expenses (1 276) (1 273) (251) (378) (3)

Operating profit 3 239 1 385 597 (191) 177 

Fair value adjustments — — (232) — 

Finance income — — — — — 

Finance costs (1 393) (539) (237) (333)

Profit before income tax charge 1 846 845 127 (524) 177 

Taxation — — — — — 

Profit for the year 1 846 845 127 (524) 177 

Emira's share of profit/(loss) 915 418 63 (259) 88 

*  The information for Enyuka was extracted from Enyuka’s audited financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2019. The independent external auditors of Enyuka are BDO South Africa Inc.

#  The information for Transcend was extracted from Transcend’s interim financial statements for the six-months ended 30 June 2019 as announced on SENS on 8 August 2019.

^  The information for the foreign US associates was extracted from the audited trial balances of the associates for the 12-months ended 30 June 2019. The independent external auditors of the USA associates are Whitley Penn LLP.

11. LISTED PROPERTY INVESTMENT
 GROUP

NUMBER OF
STAPLED SECURITIES

R’000 2020 2019 2020 2019

Growthpoint Properties Australia Limited (“GOZ”)
Balance at beginning of year 759 716 956 209 18 638 447 26 058 566 

Stapled securities acquired — — — —

Stapled securities sold (788 236) (307 136) (18 638 447) (7 420 119)

Fair value adjustment (12 863) 131 063 — —

Currency translation adjustment 41 384 (20 420) — —

Balance at end of year — 759 716 — 18 638 447 

During the current financial period, the Fund disposed of the balance of its GOZ holding, being a further 18 638 447 units at an average quoted market price of AUD4,11 per 
unit. The sales were in line with the Fund’s strategy of disposing its non-core assets. The value disposed of, was determined with reference to the quoted market price of 
GOZ, which is a level 1 input.
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12. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Inani Property Fund Proprietary Limited
Holding (%) 20 20 

Fair value at beginning of the year 30 822 —

Acquisition of shares in Inani 778 20 753 

Fair value adjustment (12 240) 10 069 

Fair value at end of year 19 360 30 822 

The fair value of the investment in Inani was determined with reference to the net asset value of Inani, which is deemed to be a level 3 input of the fair value hierarchy as 
defined by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements. For further information in relation to the measurement of fair value, please refer to note 31.

13. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Trade receivables 112 352 42 387 

Less: Expected credit losses (45 801) (24 086)

Net trade receivables 66 551 18 301 

Prepayments 13 261 37 656 

Accrual of recoverable expenses 41 441 35 501 

Municipal deposits 14 297 15 340 

Other receivables 17 541 7 838 

Total 153 091 114 636 

Due within one year 153 091 114 636 

The carrying values of accounts receivable approximate their fair value. All classes of accounts receivable have been considered for impairment.

The movement in the expected credit losses for trade receivables is as follows:

Opening balance 24 086 23 384 

Expected credit losses written off during the year as uncollectable (31 376) (18 861)

Additional expected credit losses recognised during the year 53 091 19 563 

— Standard trade receivables 33 011 19 563 

— Deferred rental 20 080 —

Closing balance

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired
30 days 1 929 11 801 

60 days 2 577 2 246 

90 days 13 523 2 866 

120+ days 48 522 1 388 

Total 66 551 18 301 

Ageing of impaired receivables
30 days 24 906 3 366 

60 days 1 224 2 459 

90 days 9 453 1 839 

120+ days 10 218 16 422 

Total 45 801 24 086 

Refer to note 31 for further information on the credit risk of trade and other receivables.
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14. LOANS RECEIVABLE
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

LOANS PROVIDED ON THE DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY
Africrest Properties (Pty) Ltd — The Avenues 6 000 6 000 

The loan bears interest at 9,5% per annum from 29 June 2017 to 28 June 2018, 10,0% per annum from 29 June 2018 to 28 June 2019, 
10,5% per annum from 29 June 2019 to 28 June 2020 and 11,0% per annum from 29 June 2020 to 28 June 2021. The loan is unsecured 
and is repayable on 28 June 2021. The loan relates to finance provided on the disposal of the property known as The Avenues.

Africrest Properties (Pty) Ltd — Riverworld 9 270 9 270 

The loan bears interest at 9,5% per annum from 20 December 2017 to 19 December 2018, 10,0% per annum from 20 December 2018 
to 19 December 2019, 10,5% per annum from 20 December 2019 to 19 December 2020 and 11,0% per annum from 20 December 2020 to 
19 December 2021. The loan is unsecured and is repayable on 19 December 2021. The loans relates to finance provided on the disposal 
of the property known as Riverworld.

Inani Prop Holdings (Pty) Ltd 338 992 319 073 

The loan bears interest at 3 month JIBAR plus a margin of 4,0% (2019: 3,5%) from the first utilisation date until the end of the 15th 
month after the first utilisation date and thereafter increasing by 50 basis points for each 12-month period. The loan is repayable 
on 27 June 2024 and Emira has a second ranking debt guarantee.

RAB Property Investments (Pty) Ltd — Loan 1 48 702 42 140 

The loan bears interest at 3 month JIBAR plus a margin of 3,5% per annum, is unsecured and is repayable as follows; 11 monthly 
instalments of R1 million each from and including 28 July 2020 to and including 28 May 2021; followed by three equal instalments 
payable on and including 28 June 2021, 28 December 2021, 28 June 2022 to reduce the balance to nil. The loan relates to finance 
provided on the disposal of the properties known as Brooklyn Gardens, Waterkloof House and Brooklyn Forum. 

RAB Property Investments (Pty) Ltd — Loan 2 42 157 59 789 

The loan bears interest at 9,25% per annum from 28 March 2018 to 27 March 2019, 9,75% per annum from 28 March 2019 to 
27 March 2020 and 10,25% per annum from 28 March 2020 to 27 March 2021. The loan is repayable on 27 March 2021. The loan 
relates to finance provided on the disposal of the property known as Brooklyn Office Park.

Square Buttons Consulting (Pty) Ltd 3 735 3 772 

The loan bears interest at 9,5% per annum from 16 October 2017 to 15 October 2018, 10,5% per annum from 16 October 2018 to 
15 October 2019 and 11,5% per annum from 16 October 2019 to 15 October 2020. The loan is secured and is repayable on 20 December 
2020. The loan relates to finance provided on the disposal of the property known as 4 Kikuyu.

SUPPLIER DEVELOPMENT LOANS
BrightBlack Energy (Pty) Ltd — Boskruin 2 966 3 044 

The loan was advanced in terms of the solar project undertaken in line with the Fund’s BBBEE policy of supplier development. 
R3,1 million was advanced at a interest rate of prime less 70 basis points. The loan is repayable quarterly with the final repayable 
amount due on 15 April 2029. The loan is secured by a notarial bond over the related solar panels.

BrightBlack Energy (Pty) Ltd — Randridge 9 529 9 746 

The loan was advanced in terms of the solar project undertaken in line with the Fund’s BBBEE policy of supplier development. 
R9,7 million was advanced during the year at a interest rate of prime less 70 basis points. The loan is repayable quarterly with 
the final repayable amount due on 30 September 2029.

Sinani Energy (Pty) Ltd — Springfield 905 —

The loan was advanced in terms of the solar project undertaken in line with the Fund’s BBBEE policy of supplier development. 
R0,9 million was advanced during the year at a interest rate of prime less 70 basis points. The loan is repayable quarterly with 
the final repayable amount due on 31 December 2030. The loan is secured by a notarial bond over the related solar panels.

Sinani Energy (Pty) Ltd — Ben Fleur 3 956 3 072 

The loan was advanced in terms of the solar project undertaken in line with the Fund’s BBBEE policy of supplier development. 
R3,0 million was advanced at a interest rate of prime less 70 basis points. The loan is repayable quarterly with the final repayable 
amount due on 31 July 2029. The loan is secured by a notarial bond over the related solar panels.

Total loans receivable 466 212 455 906 

Less: Current portion of loans receivable 68 833 18 254

Non-current portion of loans receivable 397 379 437 652

Gross Loans receivable 466 212 455 906 

Expected credit loss (40 148) —

Net loans receivable 426 064 455 906 

Refer to note 31 for further information on the credit risk of loans receivable.
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15. SHARE CAPITAL

AUTHORISED

2 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 2 000 000 000).

ISSUED

522 667 247 ordinary shares of no par value (2019: 522 667 247).
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

AUTHORISED AND ISSUED
Balance at beginning of year 3 654 591 3 775 458 

 Share capital 4 026 633 4 537 240 

 Share issue costs 1 306 856 1 307 248 

 Share premium (187 425) 30 000 

 Debentures (1 333 475) —

Recognition of shares issued to BEE Scheme 172 411 —

Issued during the year — 99 549 

Repurchased during the year — (99 545)

JSE Listing fees — (393)

Treasury shares in issue (381 706) (120 478)

 Shares acquired by ESA Trust during the year i — (99 549)

 Shares acquired for the Forfeitable Share Plan ii (17 480) (20 929)

 Treasury shares held by BEE Scheme upon consolidation iii (364 226) —

 Vested during the year — —

Balance at 30 June 2020 3 445 296 3 654 591 

i  The ESA Trust acquired 7 200 000 shares in 2019 at an average price of R13,83 on the JSE, which have been classified as treasury shares upon consolidation.

ii  Shares held in treasury in respect of the Forfeitable share plan issued as a long-term incentive to employees of 2 840 147 (2019: 1 448 299).

iii   Emira issued 26 133 364 shares to the BEE Scheme SPVs at R13,94 per share in furtherance of its BEE strategy in June 2017. Upon the issue of the guarantee on behalf of the BEE Scheme SPVs, as described in note 32, it was determined that Emira 
exercises control over the BEE SPVs, resulting in the consolidation thereof with effect from 1 April 2020. Upon consolidation, the shares issued to the BEE SPVs were classified as treasury shares.
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16. RESERVES
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Fair value reserve
Opening balance 4 964 268 4 926 991 

Transfer to fair value reserve (816 505) 37 277 

Closing balance 4 147 763 4 964 268 

Other reserves
Opening balance (70 466) (82 143)

Equity settled share scheme 9 160 11 677 

Closing balance (61 306) (70 466)

Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening balance 19 776 17 918 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 154 191 1 919 

Non-controlling interest — (61)

Closing balance 173 967 19 776 

Non-controlling interest
Opening balance 2 595 107 

Profit for the year 3 016 4 115 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations — 61 

Dividends paid (827) (1 688)

Non-controlling interest acquired 1 090 - 

Closing balance 5 874 2 595 

Retained earnings
Opening balance 412 635 330 351 

IFRS 9 adoption — (2 582)

Total comprehensive income for the year (734 178) 882 509 

Profit for the year (731 162) 886 624 

Non-controlling interest (3 016) (4 115)

Dividends paid (786 472) (778 800)

Premium on share option * 18 875 18 433 

Control of BEE Scheme acquired for no consideration 26 369 —

Non-controlling interest acquired ̂ (24 085) —

Transfer to fair value reserve 816 505 (37 277)

Closing balance (270 352) 412 635 

Total reserves 3 995 946 5 328 807 

The fair value reserve represents all fair value adjustments made in respect of investment properties, the listed property investment and fair value movements on interest 
rate derivatives.

The other reserve represents the charge which was made to the statement of comprehensive income in respect of shares that were issued to the ESA Trust, Fund’s BEE 
partners and vendors of properties in prior years and the cost recognised on the equity settled share schemes, as detailed in note 32.

*  The premium on share option of R18,8 million (2019: R18,4 million) represents the interest received on the unrecognised loan to the BEE parties prior to the consolidation of the BEE Scheme. For further information, see note 32.

^   On 12 July 2019, a settlement agreement was entered into between Emira, Continuum, and Continuum Investments LLC (the “Continuum Manager”). Per the terms of the settlement agreement, Emira purchased Continuum’s 3,16% equity interest 
in the Company for total consideration of USD1 500 000, with effect from 20 August 2019. Accordingly, Emira and Continuum agree that with effect from First Closing Date that all ownership rights, entitlements and benefits in and to the Equity 
Interests shall vest in Emira; and all risks, obligations and duties in and to the Equity Interests shall transfer to Emira.
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17. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT

RECONCILIATION OF INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
GROUP

R’000 2020
Restated

2019

Balance at 1 July  5 293 012  5 669 550 

Borrowings acquired  1 265 729  6 480 837 

Transaction costs paid  (2 439)  (2 711)

Transaction costs amortised (non-cash)  2 703  3 042 

Interest expense  34 602  7 190 

Repayment of debt  (1 537 133)  (6 864 895)

Reallocation of Feenstra loan to other financial liabilities —  (23 651)

Control of BEE party  146 238 —

Balance at 30 June  5 179 061  5 269 362 

Current portion  1 681 000  1 283 930 

Non-current portion  3 498 061  3 985 432 

The carrying amount of the interest-bearing debt approximates its fair value.

As at 30 June 2020 Emira had total debt facilities (excluding other consolidated debt) of R5 586,0 million (2019: R5 815,0 million), of which R4 967,0 million (2019: R5 195,0 
million) had been utilised.

At 30 June 2020, the aggregate indebtedness amounted to 43.0% (2019: 36,1%) of the gross value of the underlying income producing assets.

As at 30 June 2020 interest rates were fixed in respect of 83,0% (2019: 91,2%) of interest-bearing borrowings and the weighted average all in interest rate was 7,45% 
(2019: 7,6%), excluding other consolidated debt. Details of Emira’s interest-rate hedging contracts are shown in note 20.

No covenants were breached during the year.
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17. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT CONTINUED

R’000 GROUP

Funder
Nominal

 interest rate  Term 
 Date of

maturity 2020 2019

Emira direct funding
Rand Merchant Bank 1 Secured  PRIME - 1,45%  36 months  Nov 22  105 153 —
Rand Merchant Bank 1 Secured  PRIME - 1,60%  24 months  Nov 19 —  5 784 
Rand Merchant Bank 1 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,85%  60 months  Dec 23  301 137  301 799 
Rand Merchant Bank 1 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,70%  36 months  Dec 21  200 658  200 990 
Rand Merchant Bank 1 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,65%  38 months  Jul 22  203 525  203 433 
Rand Merchant Bank 1 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,80%  62 months  Jul 24  305 080  304 877 
Rand Merchant Bank 1 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,95%  36 months  May 23  201 165 —
ABSA 4 Secured  PRIME - 1,45%  36 months  Jul 22  (636)  251 157 
ABSA 4 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,60%  36 months  Mar 23  150 436 —
ABSA 4 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,55%  24 months  Mar 20 —  149 981 
ABSA 4 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,68%  36 months  Mar 21  199 841  199 670 
Nedbank 2 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,85%  63 months  Sep 23  199 901  200 035 
Nedbank 2 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,70%  60 months  Apr 24  202 893  203 487 
Nedbank 2 Secured  3m JIBAR + 2,00%  60 months  Sep 22  299 650  300 328 
Standard Bank 3 Secured  PRIME - 1,49%  48 months  May 21  224 752  226 181 
Standard Bank 3 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,85%  60 months  Jun 23  199 987  200 038 
Standard Bank 3 Secured  PRIME - 1,25%  60 months  Jun 23 — —
Sanlam 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,85%  48 months  Jul 21  200 032  200 098 
Investec Bank Unsecured  QUOTED 6,85%  12 months  Jul 20  150 927  211 
DMTN programme 6 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,65%  61 months  Sep 20  70 311  70 454 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,80%  36 months  Sep 19 —  241 093 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,78%  36 months  Nov 19 —  101 336 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,95%  36 months  Jun 20 —  200 877 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,90%  36 months  Nov 20  150 455  151 004 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,80%  36 months  May 21  402 050  403 070 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 2,00%  60 months  Jun 23  127 488  127 756 
DMTN programme 6 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,45%  36 months  Sep 21  130 365  130 586 
DMTN programme 6 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,60%  60 months  Sep 23  200 507  200 889 
DMTN programme 6 Secured  3m JIBAR + 1,80%  84 months  Dec 25  100 135  100 299 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,65%  36 months  Sep 22  100 236 —
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,60%  36 months  Nov 22  100 867 —
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,15%  12 months  Sep 19 —  195 093 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,15%  12 months  Nov 19 —  126 593 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,15%  12 months  Mar 20 —  155 947 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 0,75%  6 months  Oct 19 —  76 445 
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 0,70%  6 months  Mar 20 — —
DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,10%  12 months  Nov 20  126 063 —

DMTN programme 5 Unsecured  3m JIBAR + 1,10%  12 months  Mar 21  335 879 —

 4 988 857  5 229 511 

Other consolidated debt
Sanlam (ESA Trust) ** Secured  3m JIBAR + 3,00%  60 months  Jun 24  40 828  39 851 
Sanlam (Tamela SPV) *** Secured  3m JIBAR + 3,00%  64 months  Oct 22  74 688 —

Sanlam (Letsema SPV) **** Secured  3m JIBAR + 3,00%  64 months  Oct 22  74 688 —

 5 179 061  5 269 362 

Current portion included in current liabilities  (1 681 000)  (1 283 930)

 3 498 061  3 985 432 

*    Relates to the shareholder loan provided by the Feenstra Property Group to Bet All Investments (Pty) Limited, the company holding the residential property known as The Bolton.

**    Relates to the funding provided by Sanlam to The ESA Trust (“ESA”), the investment vehicle of the executive directors. The loan is secured by ESA’s 7 200 000 Emira shares. ESA is consolidated into Emira due to the common control of the directors.

***   Relates to the funding provided by Sanlam to Tamela Property Investments (Pty) Ltd (“Tamela SPV”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Tamela Holdings (Pty) Ltd (“Tamela”), in terms of Emira’s June 2017 BEE equity investment scheme. The loan is 
secured by Tamela SPV’s 13 066 682 Emira shares. Tamela SPV is consolidated by Emira, effective 27 March 2020, due to the guarantee provided by Emira to Sanlam in respect of the Tamela SPV’s outstanding debt.

****  Relates to the funding provided by Sanlam to Luxanio Trading 157 (Pty) Ltd (“Letsema SPV”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Letsema Holdings (Pty) Ltd (“Letsema”), in terms of Emira’s June 2017 BEE equity investment scheme. The loan is secured 
by Letsema SPV’s 13 066 682 Emira shares. Letsema SPV is consolidated by Emira, effective 27 March 2020, due to the guarantee provided by Emira to Sanlam in respect of the Letsema SPV’s outstanding debt.
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17. INTEREST-BEARING DEBT CONTINUED
The financial assets have been pledged under the following terms:

1.    A minimum Group net asset value of R6 billion must be maintained at all times.

    The facility gearing ratio shall not exceed 50%.

    The group consolidated net interest-bearing debt to total assets ratio shall be no more than 50%. 

    The facility interest cover ratio (“ICR”) shall be greater than 1,9 times. 

    The group consolidated ICR shall be greater than two times.

    The facility gearing ratio including hedging liabilities shall be no more than 60%.

2.    The group loan-to-value (“LTV”) is to remain at a level of at least two times.

    The group LTV ratio may not exceed 50%.

3.    The facility ICR shall be greater than 1,2 times.

    The facility LTV ratio shall not exceed 70%.

    The group consolidated ICR shall be greater than two times.

    The group consolidated LTV ratio shall not exceed 50%.

4.    The facility ICR shall be greater than two times.

    The facility LTV ratio shall not exceed 60%.

    The facility LTV ratio, including net mark-to-market shall not exceed 70%.

    The group consolidated ICR shall be greater than two times.

    The group consolidated LTV ratio shall not exceed 50%.

5.    The group LTV ratio may not exceed 50%.

6.    The group LTV ratio may not exceed 50%.

    The facility LTV ratio shall not exceed 40%.

Debt covenant summary:
TRANSACTION 

LTV
TRANSACTION LTV, 

INCLUDING DERIVATIVES
CORPORATE 

LTV COVENANT
TRANSACTION 

ICR
CORPORATE 

ICR

R’000
Prescribed 

(%)
Actual

(%)
Prescribed 

(%)
Actual

(%)
Prescribed 

(%)
Actual

(%)
Prescribed 

(times)
Actual
(times)

Prescribed 
(times)

Actual
(times)

Rand Merchant Bank #  50,0 37,4  60,0 46,3 50,0 44,8 ## 1,9 3,0 2,0 2,6 ̂ ^

ABSA #  60,0 29,2  70,0 54,3 50,0 44,8 ## 2,0 4,0 2,0 3,0

Nedbank #  n/a n/a  n/a n/a 50,0 44,8 ## n/a n/a 2,0 3,0

Standard Bank #  70,0 50,7  n/a n/a 50,0 43,0 1,2 1,7 2,0 3,0

Sanlam ̂  n/a n/a  n/a n/a 50,0 44,8 ## n/a n/a n/a n/a

Investec Bank ̂  n/a n/a  n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

DMTN programme (secured) #  40,0 39,7  n/a n/a 50,0 42,3 ** n/a n/a n/a n/a

DMTN programme (unsecured) ̂  n/a n/a  n/a n/a 50,0 42,3 ** n/a n/a n/a n/a

#    Secured.

^    Unsecured.

# #  Actual LTV = 43,0%. These funders limited the inclusion of equity-accounted investments and loans receivable into income producing assets to 20% of total income producing assets.

^^   ICR covenant allocates interest received to EBITDA rather than offsetting against interest paid.

**    Actual LTV = 43,0%. The LTV covenant in the DMTN programme limits, the inclusion of equity-accounted investments and loans receivable into income producing assets to 20% of total income producing assets. Further, the mark-to-market of 
net-derivative assets/liabilities included in borrowings is limited to cross currency interest rate swaps.
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18. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Feenstra Property Group (Pty) Ltd 23 785 23 651 

Shareholder loan to Bet-All Investments (Pty) Ltd. The loan is unsecured and bears interest at three month JIBAR plus 180 basis points.

Letsema Holdings (Pty) Ltd 8 135 —

Shareholder loan proved to Luxanio Trading 157 (Pty) Ltd, which is unsecured and does not bear interest.

Letsema Strategy Services (Pty) Ltd 96 —

Shareholder loan proved to Luxanio Trading 157 (Pty) Ltd, which is unsecured and does not bear interest.

Sanlam Capital Markets (Pty) Ltd 2 081 —

Sanlam equity loan provided to Tamela Property Investments (Pty) Ltd. The loan is unsecured and bears interest at three month 
JIBAR + 3,25% repayable quarterly.

Tamela Holdings (Pty) Ltd 9 106 —

Shareholder loan proved to Tamela Property Investments (Pty) Ltd, which is unsecured and does not bear interest.

Closing balance 43 203 23 651 

Current portion — —

Non-current portion 43 203 23 651 

Closing balance 43 203 23 651 

The carrying values of the other financial liabilities approximate the fair value thereof.

19. LEASE LIABILITY
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019 40 212 —

Interest expense 2 976 —

Lease payments (3 601) —

Closing balance 39 587 —

Current portion 3 666 —

Non-current portion 35 921 —

Closing balance 39 587 —

Maturity analysis of lease liability

— Due within one year 3 813 —

— Due within two to five year 13 443 —

— Due beyond five years 54 761 —

Closing balance 72 018 —

The Group adopted IFRS 16 — Leases on 1 July 2019. The lease liabilities relate to the right-of-use assets disclosed under note 6. Lease liabilities were measured at the 
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 July 2019. The incremental borrowing rate applied to 
the lease liabilities on 1 July 2019 ranged from 7,4% to 7,6%. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. Finance costs are charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Net fair value of the derivative assets at the statement of financial position date was:
Cross-currency interest-rate swap contracts  6 088  79 804 

Foreign exchange option contracts  134 935  28 071 

Call option contracts and forward contracts relating to share appreciation rights scheme —  2 282 

Balance at 30 June 141 023 110 157

Less: current portion  (46 072)  (72 597)

Non-current portion  94 951  37 560 

GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Net fair value of the derivative liabilities at the statement of financial position date was:
Interest-rate swap contracts  236 040  61 776 

Cross-currency interest-rate swap contracts  363 176  119 141 

Foreign exchange option contracts  179 003  20 487 

Forward contracts relating to share appreciation rights scheme  43 179  13 584 

Balance at 30 June 821 398 214 988

Less: current portion  (190 326)  (32 174)

Non-current liabilities  631 072  182 814 

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME DERIVATIVES

The Group entered into cash settled forward contracts with Investec as an economic hedge, in respect of the fourth and fifth tranches of the share appreciation rights 
share incentive scheme, at the following forward prices:

Date
Number

of shares
Forward

price

Fourth tranche
5 October 2020 1 791 666 17,56

Fifth tranche
30 September 2020 1 700 000 13,04

30 September 2021 1 700 000 12,48
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20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

INTEREST-RATE DERIVATIVES

The notional principal amount of the outstanding interest-rate hedging contracts at 30 June 2020 was R4 121,9 million (2019: R4 796,0 million).

The interest-rate hedging contracts as at 30 June 2020 are as follows:

Financial institution
Nominal
amount

Commencement
date

Maturity
date

Fixed rate
(%)

Rate
basis

Interest-rate swaps
ABSA R270,0 million 30 Jun 17 30 Jun 21  7,380  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R50,0 million 11 Mar 16 31 Jan 22  6,570  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R50,0 million 15 Jun 19 04 Feb 22  6,490  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R150,0 million 25 Mar 14 25 Mar 22  6,480  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R50,0 million 29 Mar 19 29 Mar 22  7,300  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R40,0 million 01 Jul 11 31 May 22  6,680  3m JIBAR 

Nedbank R150,0 million 07 Sep 17 13 Jun 22  7,340  3m JIBAR 

Nedbank R150,0 million 07 Sep 17 13 Jun 22  7,310  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R200,0 million 20 Jun 13 20 Jun 22  6,830  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R210,0 million 30 Dec 19 30 Jun 22  6,700  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R50,0 million 01 Jul 11 31 Aug 22  7,500  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R50,0 million 01 Jul 11 29 Jul 22  7,510  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R88,5 million 01 Nov 13 01 Aug 22  7,520  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R213,0 million 15 Aug 14 30 Sep 22  6,700  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R100,0 million 10 Sep 07 30 Dec 22  7,450  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R60,0 million 02 Jun 10 31 Jan 23  7,530  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R200,0 million 20 Jun 13 20 Jun 23  7,650  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R125,0 million 17 May 19 17 Aug 23  7,270  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R50,0 million 26 Jun 19 26 Sep 23  7,270  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R125,0 million 03 Jun 19 01 Mar 24  7,480  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R50,0 million 29 Mar 19 28 Mar 24  7,550  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R150,0 million 03 Apr 18 02 Apr 24  7,190  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R150,0 million 28 Mar 19 28 Jun 24  7,480  3m JIBAR 

ABSA R150,0 million 28 Mar 19 28 Jun 24  7,800  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank R250,0 million 07 Jan 20 07 Jan 25  6,970  3m JIBAR 

Cross-currency interest-rate swaps
ABSA USD3,7 million 11 Feb 19 08 May 23  2,800  3m JIBAR 

ABSA USD4,2 million 07 Aug 19 08 Nov 23  2,140  3m JIBAR 

ABSA USD9,7 million 07 Aug 19 08 Feb 24  2,090  3m JIBAR 

ABSA USD6,1 million 07 May 19 07 May 24  2,640  3m JIBAR 

ABSA USD8,0 million 20 Jun 19 07 Aug 24  2,110  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank USD8,0 million 28 Jan 20 07 Aug 24  1,930  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank USD8,3 million 04 Oct 17 07 Feb 25  2,110  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank USD3,1 million 20 Dec 17 07 Feb 25  2,430  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank USD1,0 million 16 Nov 17 07 Nov 25  2,305  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank USD5,7 million 18 Dec 18 07 Nov 25  3,135  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank USD2,5 million 26 Mar 19 07 Nov 25  2,761  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank USD1,2 million 10 May 19 07 Nov 25  2,783  3m JIBAR 

Rand Merchant Bank USD11,6 million 19 Oct 18 07 May 26  3,234  3m JIBAR 
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20. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

FOREIGN EXCHANGE DERIVATIVES

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge the anticipated income flows from its investments in the USA.

The foreign exchange contracts as at 30 June 2020 are as follows:

Maturity date
Nominal value

USD’000
Fixed

USD/R rate
% of estimated
income hedged

Dec 2020 3 428 15,03 81,07

Dec 2021 3 517 15,82 87,62

Dec 2022 3 455 16,96 80,43

Dec 2023 3 524 18,10 86,92

Dec 2024 1 800 19,32 77,64

Jun 2021 2 054 15,43 88,64

Jun 2022 2 077 16,23 79,32

Jun 2023 2 184 17,53 69,26

Jun 2024 1 694 18,55 42,20

Jun 2025 600 20,40 73,14

21. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Trade payables 11 512 11 050 

Tenant deposits 94 058 98 652 

Accrued expenses 157 845 116 479 

Pre-paid debtors 33 872 31 992 

Value added tax (3 726) 16 077 

Other payables 14 725 9 241 

Total 308 286 283 491 

Current 308 286 283 491 
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS LIABILITY
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Share appreciation rights scheme 488 3 905 

Provision for leave pay 2 469 2 347 

Accrued bonuses 11 116 20 021 

Total 14 074 26 273 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

i. Share appreciation rights

The Group operates a share appreciation rights scheme that was formulated to reward certain employees who make a meaningful and sustainable contribution to the financial 
performance of Emira.

The awards may be exercised in equal tranches, three, four and five years after the date of grant. Tranche 4 and 5 are subject to a performance condition of annual 
growth in distributions compared to CPI.

The number of SARs awards outstanding is as follows:

R’000
Outstanding

at 1 July 2019 Granted
Cancelled/

expired Vested
Outstanding

at 30 June 2020

Tranche
Third tranche 421 054 — (421 054) — — 

Fourth tranche 3 477 667 — (1 758 834) — 1 718 833 

Fifth tranche 4 880 500 — (1 666 833) — 3 213 667 

 8 779 221 — (3 846 721) — 4 932 500 

No SARs vested during the year. At 30 June 2020, the following SARs were expected to vest in the future.

 › Tranche four — None

 › Tranche five — third third: 100%

The IFRS 2 charge recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of the share appreciation rights scheme amounted to income of R2,5 million 
(2019: income R1,9 million). The scheme is accounted for as a cash-settled share-based payment, whereby a share-based payment expense is recognised as the services 
and vesting conditions are met. The fair value of the share appreciation rights is calculated by applying an option pricing model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions on which the share appreciation rights were granted, and the extent to which the employees have rendered services to date.
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22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED

ii. Forfeitable Share Plan

The Forfeitable Share Plan (“FSP”) was introduced as a long-term incentive for employees who will receive shares in the Company for no consideration. The purpose 
of the FSP is to provide both an incentive to employees to deliver the Group’s business strategy and objectives over the long-term and to act as a retention mechanism. 
The vesting of the FSP awards are subject to continued employment over the vesting period and meeting certain pre-set performance targets. In terms of the plan and 
depending on vesting conditions being met, the shares awarded to employees vest in equal tranches from the date of the award to 15 September three, four and five years 
after the date of the grant.

Participants are entitled to the corresponding voting rights and distributions prior to vesting.

In the event of death, serious disability, retrenchment or retirement of a participant, a portion of the award, to be calculated in terms of the provisions of the FSP, shall 
vest. If the participant’s employment is terminated, the unvested portion of the award will be forfeited in its entirety, or partially, at the discretion of the Remuneration 
Committee, and all rights will lapse immediately on the date of termination of employment.

The number of FSP awards in issue is as follows:

R’000
Outstanding

at 1 July 2019 Granted
Cancelled/

expired Vested
Outstanding

at 30 June 2020

Grant date
15 December 2017 648 000 — (7 400) — 640 600 

15 September 2018 800 299 — (6 900) — 793 399 

15 September 2019 — 1 391 848 — — 1 391 848 

1 448 299 1 391 848 (14 300) — 2 825 847 

No FSP awards vested during the year. At 30 June 2020 all awards in issue were expected to vest in the future.

The IFRS 2 expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year in respect of the FSP amounted to R9,1 million (2019: R4,9 million). The fair value 
was determined by using the actual price that the FSP shares were acquired at grant date.

iii. Matching share scheme

In terms of the matching share scheme, participants are invited bi-annually to acquire Emira shares.

Participants holding shares at the third anniversary of the date of award will, subject to performance criterion being met, be awarded Emira shares, free of consideration, 
based on a multiple of one share for every three original shares held.

The number of matching scheme awards in issue are as follows:

R’000
Outstanding

at 1 July 2019 Granted
Cancelled/

expired Vested
Outstanding

at 30 June 2020

Grant date
Matching share scheme awards 30 355 30 355 

30 355 — — — 30 355 

No matching scheme awards vested during the year. At 30 June 2020 all matching scheme awards in issue were expected to vest in the future.

The IFRS 2 expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of the share matching scheme amounted to R0,1 million (2019: R0,1 million). The fair 
value of services received in return for the matching share scheme awards has been determined as the number of shares expected to vest multiplied by the share price 
at year-end.
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23. DEFERRED TAX
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Comprises of:
Capital allowances — 6 593 

Reconciliation of the movement in the deferred tax liability
Prior year deferred tax adjustment — (6 435)

Foreign currency translation adjustment — (158)

Balance at end of year — —

24. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Cash generated from operations
Profit before income tax charge for the year (716 762) 885 417 

Adjusted for:

Fair value adjustments 841 608 (94 447)

Allowance for future rental escalations 846 11 840 

Unamortised upfront lease costs 744 (490)

Amortisation of tenant installations 11 370 — 

Income from listed property investment (8 686) — 

Income from equity-accounted investments (239 126) (344 233)

Interest paid 402 489 454 250 

Interest capitalised to the cost of developments (3 768) (20 866)

Foreign exchange profit (154 073) 20 823 

Unrealised deficit on revaluation of interest rate swaps 619 922 43 910 

Expected credit loss 44 572 3 646 

Impairment of Worley Parsons — 41 042 

Amortisation of call option — 4 340 

Finance income (51 578) (30 451)

Depreciation 759 10 555 

Operating profit before working capital changes 748 317 985 336 

Increase/(decrease) in accounts receivable (38 455) 62 584 

Decrease/increase in accounts payable 12 596 (25 940)

Cash generated from operations 722 458 1 021 980 

Distribution to shareholders
Distributions payable at the beginning of the year — — 

Distributions for the year (815 002) (778 800)

Distributions paid to shareholders (815 002) (778 800)

Taxation paid for the year
Taxation payable at beginning of year 3 362 7 534 

Movement in statement of comprehensive income: 14 400 (1 207)

 SA normal taxation 4 127 — 

 Deferred taxation — (6 435)

 Withholding tax on foreign dividends received 10 273 5 227 

Taxation payable at end of year (17 130) (3 362)

Taxation paid for the year 631 2 964 
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25. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Enyuka Prop Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Shares 12 12 
Loan 595 109 593 832 
Expected credit loss 10 435 2 553
Loan terms: Refer to note 10 for further information
Interest received 80 437 76 978 
Relationship: Joint venture 49,9% owned

Transcend Residential Property Fund Ltd
Investment 402 552 430 822 

Loan 103 478 143 461 

Expected credit loss 217 2 375

Loan terms: Refer to note 10 for further information

Interest received 14 480 8 372 

Dividend received 29 757 15 797 

Relationship: Equity-accounted associate, 34,9% owned

26. MINIMUM CONTRACTED RENTAL INCOME
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

The Group has rental income receivable in terms of operating lease contracts:

— Due within one year 925 027 990 405 

— Due within two to five years 1 885 048 2 094 917 

— Due beyond five years 407 348 854 416 

Total 3 217 424 3 939 738 

The weighted average lease expiry is 2,7 years (2019: 3,0 years) and the average lease escalation is 7,3% (2019: 7,5%).

27. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
GROUP

R’000 2020 2019

Authorised capital expenditure
— Committed 2 400 197 077

— Contracted for 69 743 55 345

CONTINGENCIES

The Fund has no material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020.
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28. POST YEAR-END EVENTS

Declaration of dividend after reporting date

In line with IAS 10, Events after the reporting period, the declaration of the final dividend of 30,26 cents per share occurred after the end of the reporting period, resulting 
in a non-adjusting even that is not recognised in the financial statements.

While the economy is opening up and lockdown restrictions have been eased, Emira recognises that businesses of certain of its tenants continue to be constrained. Where 
necessary, for deemed high risk tenants, and provided Emira is satisfied with the longevity of the underlying business, further relief has been provided post 30 June 2020.

Emira entered into a Senior Secured Floating Rate Note, in terms of its Domestic Medium Term Note Programme dated 13 March 2019, effective 2 September 2020 for a 
nominal value of R70,0 million.

There have been no other significant events subsequent to the reporting date.

29. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The chief operating decision maker is the person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group 
has determined that its chief operating decision maker is the CEO of the Fund. 

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the CEO in making strategic decisions. The CEO considers the business based on 
the following operating segments:

 LOCAL SOUTH AFRICAN INVESTMENTS
 › Office — comprises directly held commercial properties

 › Retail — comprises directly held shopping centres and the investment in Enyuka

 › Industrial — comprises directly held industrial properties

 › Residential — comprises directly held residential property and the investment in Transcend

 › Corporate — comprises the South African administration activities of the Group

 INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS
 › International — comprises the indirect investments into grocery anchored power centres in the USA, the investment into Growthpoint Australia as well as international 
administration activities

The operating segments derive their revenue, either directly or indirectly, from rental income from lessees. All of the Group’s income generating business activities and 
operating segments are reported within the above segments.

 The administration activities of the Group are reported under the “Corporate” operating segment.
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29. SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED

R’000 Office Retail Industrial Residential Corporate Local
Inter-

national Total

SECTORAL SEGMENTS — JUNE 2020
Revenue  456 497  731 287  284 190  29 140  —  1 501 114  —  1 501 114 

Operating lease rental income and tenant recoveries  465 009  713 306  294 505  29 140  —  1 501 960  —  1 501 960 

Allowance for future rental escalations  (8 512)  17 981  (10 315)  —  (846)  —  (846)

Property expenses  (202 135)  (311 864)  (129 993)  (7 915)  —  (651 906)  —  (651 906)

Income from listed property investment  —  —  —  —  —  —  8 686  8 686 

Administration expenses  —  —  —  —  (107 389)  (107 389)  (9 542)  (116 930)

Operating profit  254 362  419 423  154 197  21 225  (107 389)  741 819  (856)  740 964 

Net fair value adjustments  (265 011)  (420 932)  (117 821)  (12 741)  (632 162)  (1 448 667)  (12 863)  (1 461 530)

Investment properties  (265 011)  (420 932)  (117 821)  (12 741)  —  (816 505)  —  (816 505)

Derivative financial instruments relating to share 
appreciation rights scheme  —  —  —  —  8  8  —  8 

Interest-rate derivatives  —  —  —  —  (619 930)  (619 930)  —  (619 930)

Property investments  —  —  —  —  (12 240)  (12 240)  (12 863)  (25 103)

Expected credit loss  —  —  —  —  (44 572)  (44 572)  —  (44 572)

Foreign exchange loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  154 073  154 073 

Other income  —  —  —  —  3 559  3 559  3 559 

Income from equity-accounted investments  —  51 448  —  15 967  —  67 415  171 710  239 126 

Distributable  —  71 592  —  14 480  —  86 072  139 187  225 259 

Non-distributable  —  (20 144)  —  1 487  —  (18 657)  32 523  13 866 

Profit before finance costs  (10 648)  49 940  36 376  24 451 (780 564) (678 445)  312 065  (366 380)

Net finance costs  —  —  —  — (280 343) (280 343)  (68 039)  (348 382)

Profit before income tax charge  (10 648)  49 940  36 376  24 451 (1 060 907)  (960 788)  244 026  (716 762)

Taxation  —  —  —  —  (4 127)  (4 127)  (10 273)  (14 400)

Profit for the period  (10 648) 49 940 36 376 24 451 (1 065 034) (964 915)  233 753  (731 162)

Investment properties  3 215 451  4 987 175  1 833 787  211 200  —  10 247 613  —  10 247 613 

Investment properties held for sale  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Listed property investment  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Loans receivable  —  —  —  —  415 411  415 411  —  415 411 

Other assets  —  653 724  —  506 030  397 875  1 539 628  1 661 331  3 200 959 

Total assets  3 215 451  5 640 899  1 833 787  717 230  795 286  12 202 652  1 661 331  13 863 983 

Interest-bearing borrowings  —  —  —  —  5 179 061  5 179 061  —  5 179 061 

Other liabilities  —  —  —  —  1 225 124  1 225 124  18 557  1 243 681

Total liabilities  —  —  —  —  6 404 185  6 404 185  18 557  6 422 742 
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29. SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED

R’000 Office Retail Industrial Residential Corporate Local
Inter-

national Total

SECTORAL SEGMENTS — JUNE 2019
Revenue  632 293  750 288  302 786  1 595  —  1 686 962  —  1 686 962 

Operating lease rental income and tenant recoveries  647 494  746 025  303 688  1 595  —  1 698 802  —  1 698 802 

Allowance for future rental escalations  (15 201)  4 263  (902)  —  (11 840)  —  (11 840)

Property expenses  (242 560)  (278 135)  (119 385)  (663)  —  (640 743)  (13)  (640 756)

Income from listed property investment  —  —  —  —  —  —  47 818  47 818 

Administration expenses  —  —  —  —  (118 998)  (118 998)  (9 485)  (128 483)

Transaction and advisory fees  —  —  —  —  (855)  (855)  —  (855)

Depreciation  —  —  —  —  (10 555)  (10 555)  —  (10 555)

Operating profit  389 733  472 153  183 401  932  (130 408)  915 812  38 320  954 131 

Net fair value adjustments  (45 921)  (21 698)  10 231  10 703  (36 830)  (83 516)  131 063  47 548 

Investment properties  (45 921)  (21 698)  10 231  10 703  —  (46 685)  —  (46 685)

Derivative financial instruments relating to share 
appreciation rights scheme  —  —  —  —  (2 989)  (2 989)  —  (2 989)

Interest-rate derivatives  —  —  —  —  (43 910)  (43 910)  —  (43 910)

Property investments  —  —  —  —  10 069  10 069  131 063  141 132 

Expected credit loss  —  —  —  —  (3 646)  (3 646)  —  (3 646)

Impairment of Worley Parsons receivable  —  —  —  —  (41 042)  (41 042)  —  (41 042)

Foreign exchange profit  —  —  —  —  —  —  (20 823)  (20 823)

Other income  —  —  —  —  7 917  7 917  33  7 949 

Income from equity-accounted investments  —  104 180  —  160 853  —  265 034  79 200  344 233 

Distributable  —  74 806  —  8 372  —  83 178  74 780  157 957 

Non-distributable  —  29 374  —  152 482  —  181 856  4 420  186 276 

Profit before finance costs  343 812  554 635  193 632  172 489  (204 009)  1 060 559  227 792  1 288 350 

Net finance costs  —  —  —  —  (366 469)  (366 469)  (36 465)  (402 933)

Profit before income tax charge  343 812  554 635  193 632  172 489  (570 478)  694 090  191 327  885 417 

Taxation  —  —  —  —  —  —  1 207  1 207 

Profit for the period 343 812 554 635 193 632 172 489  (570 478) 694 090 192 535 886 624

Investment properties  3 430 476  5 218 929  1 933 650  220 000  281  10 803 336  —  10 803 336 

Investment properties held for sale  66 250  72 000  —  —  —  138 250  —  138 250 

Listed property investment  —  —  —  —  —  —  759 716  759 716 

Loans receivable  —  455 906  455 906  —  455 906 

Other assets  —  655 846  —  —  1 422 340  2 078 186  569 132  2 647 318 

Total assets  3 496 726  5 946 775  1 933 650  220 000  1 878 527  13 475 678  1 328 847  14 804 526 

Interest-bearing borrowings  —  —  —  —  5 293 013  5 293 013  —  5 293 013 

Other liabilities  —  —  —  —  524 141  524 141  3 974  528 115 

Total Liabilities  —  —  —  —  5 817 154  5 817 154  3 974  5 821 128 
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29. SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED

R’000 Office Retail Industrial Residential Corporate Local
Inter-

national Total

JUNE 2020
Revenue
— Gauteng and Mpumalanga  311 636  545 402  210 624  29 139  —  1 096 802  —  1 096 802 

— Western and Eastern Cape  112 595  53 524  49 302  —  —  215 420  —  215 420 

— KwaZulu-Natal  39 956  70 744  34 577  —  —  145 277  —  145 277 

— Free State  824  43 636  —  —  —  44 461  —  44 461 

 465 011  713 306  294 504  29 139  —  1 501 960  —  1 501 960 

Investment properties
— Gauteng and Mpumalanga  2 102 975  3 970 912  1 254 700  211 200  —  7 539 787  —  7 539 787 

— Western and Eastern Cape  887 875  367 350  396 487  —  —  1 651 712  —  1 651 712 

— KwaZulu-Natal  224 600  401 425  182 600  —  —  808 625  —  808 625 

— Free State  247 489  —  —  247 489  —  247 489 

 3 215 450  4 987 176  1 833 787  211 200  —  10 247 613  —  10 247 613 

JUNE 2019
Revenue
— Gauteng and Mpumalanga  456 262  577 678  211 051  1 595  —  1 246 586  —  1 246 586 

— Western and Eastern Cape  114 370  60 128  51 748  —  —  226 246  —  226 246 

— KwaZulu-Natal  51 014  70 084  39 987  —  —  161 086  —  161 086 

— Free State  10 647  42 398  —  —  —  53 045  —  53 045 

 632 293  750 288  302 786  1 595  —  1 686 962  —  1 686 962 

Investment properties
— Gauteng and Mpumalanga  2 301 471  4 160 730  1 330 850  220 000  —  8 013 051  —  8 013 051 

— Western and Eastern Cape  896 905  401 400  405 750  —  1 704 055  —  1 704 055 

— KwaZulu-Natal  232 100  426 800  197 050  —  —  855 950  —  855 950 

— Free State  —  230 000  —  —  —  230 000  —  230 000 

 3 430 476  5 218 930  1 933 650  220 000  —  10 803 056  —  10 803 056 
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30. MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

R’000 Note
Level 1

2020
Level 2

2020
Level 3

2020
Total
2020

Level 1
2019

Level 2
2019

Level 3
2019

Total
2019

GROUP
Financial assets measured at fair value
Listed investments 12 — — — — 759 716 — — 759 716

Other financial assets 13 — — 19 360 19 360 — — 30 822 30 822

Derivative assets 19 — 141 023 — 141 023 — 110 157 — 110 157

Total — 141 023 19 360 160 383 759 716 110 157 30 822 900 695

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Derivative liabilities 19 — 821 398 — 821 398 — 214 988 — 214 988

Total — 821 398 — 821 398 — 214 988 — 214 988

Net fair value — (680 375) 19 360 (661 015) 759 716 (104 831) 30 822 685 707

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared to the previous reporting period.

Investments

The shares held in a listed property company were disposed during the year. For the year ended 30 June 2019, the shares were held at fair value which is determined with 
reference to a quoted closing price.

Derivative financial instruments

The fair values of the interest-rate swap contracts are determined using discounted cash flow projections based on estimates of future cash flows, supported by the 
terms of the relevant swap agreements and external evidence such as the ZAR 0-coupon perfect-fit swap curve.

The fair values of the cross-currency interest-rate swap contracts are valued by discounting the future cash flows using the basis swap curve of the respective currencies 
at the dates when the cash flows will take place.

The USD forward exchange contracts are valued by discounting the forward rates applied at the period end to the open hedged positions.

The forward contracts relating to the employee share scheme are valued using a cost of carry financial model. The risk-free discount rate used ranged between 3,5% and 
3,6%. Management considers the key input in the valuation to be the spot price. A 10% increase in the spot price results in an increase to the forward contracts of R3,4 
million. A 10% decrease in the spot price results in a decrease to the forward contracts of R3,4 million.

Other financial assets

The fair value of other financial assets is measured in terms of Inani’s net asset value at reporting date.

The following key factors were taken into account by Inani when measuring investment property at reporting date:

 › Weighted average discount rate of 15,84%; and

 › Weighted average exit capitalisation rate of 11,18%.

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following table reflects the levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fair value as at 30 June 2020:

R’000
2020

Level 3
2019

Level 3

Assets
Investment properties 10 247 613 10 803 336

Investment properties held for sale — 138 250
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30. MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE CONTINUED

Fair value measurement of investment properties

The fair value of commercial buildings is estimated using an income approach which discounts the estimated rental income stream, net of projected operating costs, 
as well as an exit value, using a discount rate derived from market yields. The estimated rental stream takes into account current occupancy levels, estimates of future 
vacancy levels, the terms of in-place leases and expectations of rentals from future leases over the remaining economic life of the buildings.

The most significant inputs, all of which are unobservable, are the estimated rental value, assumptions regarding vacancy levels, the discount rate and the reversionary 
capitalisation rate. The estimated fair value increases if the estimated rentals increase, vacancy levels decline or if discount rates (market yields) and reversionary 
capitalisation rates decline. The overall valuations are sensitive to all four assumptions. Management considers the range of reasonable possible alternative assumptions 
to be greatest for reversionary capitalisation rates, rental values and vacancy levels and that there is also an interrelationship between these inputs. The inputs used in 
the valuations at 30 June 2020 were the following:

 › The permanent vacancy factor for retail ranged between 0% and 6,0% (June 2019: 0,5% and 7,5%), offices between 2,0% and 7,5% (June 2019: 3,0% and 10,0%) and 
industrial between 0% and 6,0% (June 2019: 2,5% and 5,0%).

 › The weighted average rental escalation percentage applied for retail was 6,6% (June 2019: 7,1%), offices 7,3% (June 2019: 7,6%) and industrial 6,9% (June 2019: 7,6%), 
and for renewals and new leases ranged between 5,0% and 8,0% (June 2019: 5,7% to 9,0%).

 › The reversionary capitalisation rates were increased for all internally prepared valuations by 25bps. The range of the rates applied to the portfolio are between 7,5% 
and 12,0% with the weighted average, by value, being 9,23% (June 2019: 9,05%).

 › The discount rates for all internally prepared valuations were increased by 25bps. The range of rates applied were between 12,75% and 16,25% with the weighted 
average, by value, being 14,22% (June 2019: 14,09%).

 › Changes in discount rates and reversionary capitalisation rates attributable to changes in market conditions can have a significant impact on property valuations.  
A 25 basis points increase in the discount rate will decrease the value of investment property by R173m (1,70%) and a 25 basis points decrease will increase the value 
of investment property by R179,3m (1,76%). A 25 basis points decrease in the reversionary capitalisation rate will increase the value of investment property by R178m 
(1,74%) and a 25 basis points increase will decrease the value of investment property by R168,3m (1,65%).

 › The market rentals applied play a significant role and these are assessed on a property-by-property basis, taking cognisance of location, quality, size and type as well 
as all the relevant and prevailing market conditions which are then benchmarked against research and asset manager projections. 

Discount rates were calculated by adding a risk premium to the risk-free rate. The risk-free rate was determined by the averaging the 10-year government bond yield 
average for the period and the combined average of the 5, 10 and 20-year government bond yields over the same period. Property specific and sector risk premiums 
were added to the average risk-free rate. These were tested for reasonability against published research reports from SAPOA as well as surveys and opinions from 
other industry bodies.

The valuation inputs vary, not only according to sector, but also in terms of grade and geographic location. Accordingly, the inputs have been disaggregated as follows:
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30. MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE CONTINUED

Total JHB PTA CPT KZN Other

EXIT CAPITALISATION RATES (%)
Offices 9,49 9,60 9,22 9,60 9,77 —

 Offices P-grade 9,11 8,75 9,22 — — —

 Offices A-grade 9,76 10,17 — 9,60 9,77 —

 Offices B-grade 10,90 10,90 — — — —

Retail 8,71 9,44 8,07 10,27 9,38 9,34

Industrial 10,18 10,27 9,86 10,01 10,15 —

DISCOUNT RATES (%)
Offices 14,44 14,76 14,45 13,94 14,77 —

 Offices P-grade 14,41 14,25 14,45 — — —

 Offices A-grade 14,35 15,17 — 13,94 14,77 —

 Offices B-grade 15,40 15,40 — — — —

Retail 13,77 14,32 13,27 14,58 14,33 14,43

Industrial 15,03 15,19 14,56 14,69 15,07 —

MARKET RENTALS (%)
Offices 163,00 158,25 196,57 158,23 166,08 —

 Offices P-grade 196,00 196,00 197,00 — — —

 Offices A-grade 153,00 128,30 — 158,23 166,08 —

 Offices B-grade 111,00 111,00 — — — —

Retail 138,00 133,39 151,67 129,92 161,84 125,77

Industrial 59,26 56,37 65,16 59,96 69,22 —

MARKET RENTAL ESCALATION RATES (%)
Offices 7,3 7,4 7,3 7,1 7,3 —

 Offices P-grade 7,3 7,3 7,3 — — —

 Offices A-grade 7,3 7,5 — 7,1 7,3 —

 Offices B-grade 7,5 7,5 — — — —

Retail 6,6 6,0 6,3 7,1 6,5 6,9

Industrial 6,9 6,6 7,0 7,0 7,1 —

VOID PERIOD (MONTHS)
Offices 4,4 3,5 5,2 3,7 4,2 —

 Offices P-grade 5,0 4,0 5,3 — — —

 Offices A-grade 3,5 2,3 — 3,7 4,2 —

 Offices B-grade 4,6 4,6 — — — —

Retail 4,7 3,1 3,9 2,1 3,5 4,0

Industrial 1,7 1,5 1,3 1,6 0,4 —

PERPETUAL VACANCY (%)
Offices 4,7 4,3 4,5 5,3 5,0 —

 Offices P-grade 4,2 3,0 4,5 — — —

 Offices A-grade 5,3 5,9 — 5,3 5,0 —

 Offices B-grade 5,0 5,0 — — — —

Retail 3,0 2,5 3,0 3,8 3,7 3,0

Industrial 2,0 2,5 2,9 3,6 4,2 —

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 continued

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

173



30. MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE CONTINUED

Further to the overall sensitivity analysis on discount rates and exit capitalisation rates, a sensitivity analysis has been performed on the top three properties (by value) 
for the retail, office and industrial portfolios, to show the effect on values when adjusting each of the key inputs. The results are as follows:

% Offices Retail Industrial

Valuation impact if exit capitalisation rate is increased by 25bps (1,7) (2,1) (1,4)

Valuation impact if exit capitalisation rate is decreased by 25bps 1,8 2,2 1,5

Valuation impact if discount rate is increased by 25bps (1,7) (1,9) (1,6)

Valuation impact if discount rate is decreased by 25bps 1,8 1,9 1,7

Valuation impact if market rentals increase by 5% 3,7 4,2 4,0

Valuation impact if market rentals decrease by 5% (3,5) (4,0) (3,8)

Valuation impact if rental escalation rates increase by 1% 1,5 2,2 1,1

Valuation impact if rental escalation rates decrease by 1% (1,5) (2,1) (1,1)

Valuation impact if the permanent vacancy factor is increased by 2,5% (2,0) (2,9) (1,8)

Valuation impact if the permanent vacancy factor is decreased by 2,5% 2,0 2,9 0,7

Fair values are estimated twice a year by Emira’s internal registered valuer, where after they are reviewed by the executive directors and approved by the Board. One third 
of the portfolio is valued externally each year end on a rolling basis. The external valuations performed as at 30 June 2020 were done by the following valuers:

Valuer Company Qualifications

TLJ Behrens Real Insight (Pty) Ltd NDip (Prop Val), MIV (SA) professional associate valuer

BJ Labuschagne Real Insight (Pty) Ltd NDip Real Estate(Prop Val), professional valuer

J Liebenberg Real Insight (Pty) Ltd BSc Real Estate (Hons), MIV (SA), professional valuer

R Scott Collins Yield Enhancement Solutions NDip Real Estate(Prop Val), professional valuer

Y Vahed Premium Valuation Services NDip Real Estate(Prop Val), MP Real Estate, MIV (SA), professional valuer

There have been no material changes to assumptions applied by the registered valuers.

Fair value measurement of investment properties held for sale

The fair value of investment properties held for sale is based on the sale price agreed by the parties to the transaction.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s financial risk management 
objective is to manage the capital and financial risk exposure so that the Group continues as a going concern and minimises adverse effects of financial risks on returns.

The Groups activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: capital risk, market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and share price risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk.

While risk management is the ultimate responsibility of the Board of directors, the Board has delegated this responsibility to the risk committee which is responsible for 
developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The Board has also established a finance committee which is specifically responsible for monitoring 
Emira’s funding policies as well as its interest rate and foreign exchange hedging policies.

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of derivatives, financial assets, loans receivable, deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable, interest-bearing 
debt, and loans to and from subsidiaries. The Group purchases or issues financial instruments to finance operations and to manage interest rate and foreign currency 
risks that may arise from time to time. The Group does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes.

Exposure to interest rate, credit and liquidity risks occurs in the normal course of business.

Cash resources are monitored to meet working capital requirements and surplus cash is applied on an access basis against long-term interest-bearing liabilities.

A. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares to shareholders or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis mandated by the Board. The Group’s borrowings are limited to 50% of the carrying value of its income-producing assets. This 
ratio is calculated as total borrowings, less cash plus/(minus) the net derivative liability/(asset), divided by total income-producing assets as disclosed in the statement 
of financial position of the Group. Income producing assets include direct property investments, investments into listed property securities, investments into unlisted 
property securities and loans receivable.

During 2020, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2019, was to maintain a loan to value ratio within its covenant limit and an A credit rating. The Group’s GCR’s 
credit rating was A throughout 2020 and 2019. The Group’s utilised borrowings capacity at 30 June 2020 can be summarised as follows:

R’000 2020 2019

GROUP
Total income producing assets 13 412 391 14 432 732 

 Investment properties 10 207 401 10 803 336 

 Investment properties held for sale — 138 250 

 Listed property investments — 759 716 

 Investment and loans in equity-accounted investments 2 778 926 2 275 524 

 Loans receivable (net of expected credit loss) 426 064 455 906 

Total borrowings net of cash 5 764 389 5 324 615 

 Interest-bearing debt — Non-current 3 498 061 4 009 083 

 Interest-bearing debt — Current 1 681 000 1 283 930 

 Net derivative liability 680 375 104 832 

 Cash and cash equivalents (95 047) (73 230)

Utilised capacity % 43,0 36,9 
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

B. MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.

The Group’s market risks arise from changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and change in share price. The Group enters into interest-rate hedging 
agreements to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates as set out in note 20.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group’s exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arose through its investment in Growthpoint Australia (“GOZ”), an Australian listed REIT, and CIL2 LLC, its USA 
subsidiary which holds equity-accounted investments into USA retail properties. The investment in GOZ, denominated in AUD was fully disposed of in the current year. 
The investment in CIL2 is denominated in United States dollar (“USD”) and translated to the spot rate at each reporting date. Forward exchange contract derivatives 
are acquired to limit exposure to currency fluctuations with respect to future dividends and interest receivable on these investments. Exchange rate fluctuations are 
considered to be insignificant due to the Group being fully hedged on its foreign exposure.

Emira fully disposed of its investment in GOZ during the current financial period and consequently has settled all of its AUD hedging instruments as at 30 June 2020.

Emira has entered into cross-currency interest-rate swaps, relating to its US investments where Emira pays USD fixed interest and receives ZAR floating interest. These 
cross-currency interest-rate swaps are effectively USD loans with a ZAR deposit and largely fund the US investment. By effectively matching the currency of the funding 
with that of the investment removes the capital related USD/ZAR currency risk movements.

At 30 June 2020, the Fund had cross-currency interest-rate swaps of USD72,9 million in place against assets of USD93,9 million. mature The cross-currency interest rate 
swaps mature between November 2021 and August 2024.

Interest-rate risk management

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial instruments at the date of the statement of financial position is set out in note 20.

Interest rates are constantly monitored and appropriate steps are taken to ensure that the Company’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations is limited. Interest rates 
have been fixed for extended periods ranging from 2020 to 2024. The average rate of interest at 30 June 2020 (applicable to the fixed interest rate agreements) was 
7,12% (2019: 7,53%). At 30 June 2020 17,0% (2019: 8,8%) of Emira’s debt was subject to a variable or floating interest rate and was not covered by an interest-rate swap 
agreement. An increase in the prime interest rate of 1% per annum would result in an increase in interest payable, in respect of the floating portion of the Group’s debt, 
which would reduce net profit for the year by R1,4 million (2019: R4,6 million). A decrease in the prime interest rate of 1% per annum would result in a decrease in interest 
payable, in respect of the floating portion of the Group’s debt, which would increase net profit for the year by R8,9 million (2019: R10,1 million).

Equity price risk

The investment in GOZ, a REIT listed on the Australian Stock Exchange, was subject to equity price risk. GOZ was fully disposed of in the current financial year. Emira 
does not have further exposure to equity price risk as its investment in Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited is equity-accounted and therefore not subject to 
fluctuations in the share price thereof.

C. CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. It arises principally 
from cash and cash equivalents, derivative assets, long-term loans granted and trade receivables. Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited through the use of financial institutions of good standing for investment and cash handling purposes.

Material bank balances are with FirstRand Bank Limited, The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited and East West Bankcorp Inc, which have a Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) 
credit rating of zaAA, zaAAA and BBB+ respectively.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Derivatives

The Group mitigates its credit risk to counterparties under derivative contracts by using reputable banks or institutions with a high credit rating for over-the-counter derivatives. 
Material derivative assets are with FirstRand Bank Limited (S&P: zzAA), Absa Bank Limited (S&P: Aa1.za), Nedbank Limited (S&P: BB) and Investec Limited (S&P: zaAA).

Loans receivable carried at amortised cost

The Group has exposure to credit risk in respect of loans receivable that comprise of funding for vendor loans stemming from property disposals, mezzanine funding 
provided as part of Emira’s investments, the share ownership facilitation schemes, for directors, employees and the BEE equity investment scheme. In assessing the 
credit risk, the financial position of the counterparties is considered prior to a loan being granted and is also evaluated on an ongoing basis together with any collateral 
provided by the counterparty.

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its loans receivable carried at amortised cost. Over the term of the loans, the 
Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers 
historical payment history for each category of counterparty, and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data. The Group uses three main parameters to measure ECL on 
loans receivable carried at amortised cost. These are the probability of default (“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”), and exposure at default (“EAD”) (i.e. PD X LGD X EAD = ECL).
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

Measures of PD and LGD are converted from Through The Cycle to Point In Time measures using Moody’s Analytics’ ImpairmentCalc tool. They are then converted to 
forward looking measures of expected losses utilising the Moody’s Analytics proprietary models, their database of validated historic macroeconomic and default data 
and forecast scenarios together with recommended weightings of scenarios. The Baseline, Stronger Near-Term Rebound (S1), and Moderate Recession (S3) forecast sets 
weighted 40%, 30%, 30% respectively, have been applied. These forecasts take into account the impact of COVID-19 on the economy.

Where the counterparty is a property investment company or there is collateral of a bond over fixed property, the LGD is calculated taking into account the value of the 
property and the application of a haircut to take into recovery rates typically achieved by the South African banking industry for the relevant property class.

Exposures are mainly segmented by counterparty type to allow for risk differentiation. The probability of a customer defaulting, as well as the realised loss with defaulted 
accounts, has been determined using historical data or by reference to models built on relevant external data where applicable.

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s expected credit loss model is as follows:

Category Definition of category Basis for recognition of expected credit loss provision

Performing loans whose credit risk is in line with original expectations 12-month ECL is applied

Underperforming Loans for which a significant increase in credit risk has occurred compared to 
original expectations; a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if interest 
and/or principal payments are 30 days past due

Lifetime expected losses (stage 2)

Non-performing (credit-impaired) Interest and/or principal repayments are 90 days past due or it becomes 
probable a customer will enter bankruptcy

Lifetime expected losses (stage 3)

Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments are 120 days past due and there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery

Asset is written off

As at 30 June 2020, Emira recognised expected credit losses for loans receivable carried at amortised cost as follows:

R’000
Stage of credit

impairment
Gross carrying

amount ECL
2020
Total

2019
Total

GROUP
Loans to associates and joint ventures Stage 1 698 587 (10 653) 687 935 732 365

Loans receivable Stage 1 74 783 (1 670) 73 113 455 906

Loans receivable ̂ Stage 2 391 429 (38 477) 352 952 —

Total 1 164 800 (50 800) 1 114 000 1 188 271

^   The underperforming loans receivable classified as stage 2 relate to the loans granted to Square Buttons Consulting (Pty) Ltd, Inani Prop Holdings (Pty) Ltd and RAB Properties (Pty) Ltd — Brooklyn Gardens. For further details, please refer to note 14.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables consist of a large, widespread tenant base, diversified by sector and geography. The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any 
single tenant counterparty.

Management has an established credit policy in terms of which each new tenant is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment terms 
and conditions are offered. Tenants are required to supply refundable lease deposits and/or bank guarantees and/or suretyships by their principals. The Group monitors 
the financial position of its tenants and the performance of the underlying business on an ongoing basis.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach in measuring expected credit losses (“ECL”) on rental debtors, which requires a lifetime loss allowance to be recognised. To 
measure the expected credit losses, rental debtors are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, split into common ageing buckets and estimated using a provision 
matrix. In calculating the ECL rate used in the provision matrix, historical loss experience as well as future credit loss expectations, using multiple macroeconomic scenarios, are 
taken into account. The expected credit losses exclude amounts owing that have been specifically provided due to management’s assessments that they are credit impaired.

Emira categorises its debtors into three broad categories — SMMEs, Retail Formal and Government. SMMEs represent small independent tenants, Retail Formal represent 
larger tenants ranging from mid size to very large, across all industries ,and Government represent all government linked tenants.

The advent of COVID-19 has had a fundamental impact on the economy in general with an exaggerated impact on credit risk and Emira has endeavoured to share the 
burden by aiding most of its tenants, with a particular focus on those tenants hardest hit by the lockdown, specifically those unable to trade and small, medium and micro 
enterprises (“SMMEs”). Concessions in the form of gross rental deferrals and/or rental remissions were provided to tenants, depending on their specific circumstances, 
for the months of April, May and June 2020 and, for certain high-risk tenants. The impact of COVID-19 and spread thereof has been factored into managements’ 
assessment of the loss allowance as well as the Moody’s analytics forecasts when calculating the expected credit loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 continued

INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2020

177



31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

On this basis, the impairment provision as at 30 June 2020 was determined as follows for trade receivables:

R’000 2020 2019

Trade receivables — gross 112 352 42 387

— Standard trade receivables 63 669 42 387

— Deferred rental 48 683 —

Less: Impairment provision (45 801) (24 086)

— Standard trade receivables (25 721) (24 086)

— Deferred rental (20 080) —

Trade receivables — net of expected credit loss 66 551 18 301

R’000

Weighted average
loss rate

% 30 days 60 days 90 days Over 120 days Total

GROUP
Tenant category
Government 0,05 1 899 107 470 1 342 3 818

— Gross 1 901 107 470 1 342 3 820

— Expected credit loss (2) — — — (2)

Retail formal 23,73 21 631 1 919 4 692 2 453 30 695

— Gross 27 008 2 044 6 353 4 839 40 244

— Expected credit loss (5 377) (125) (1 661) (2 386) (9 549)

SMME 52,38 11 902 1 617 8 462 10 056 32 038

— Gross 30 693 2 687 16 153 17 743 67 275

— Expected credit loss (18 791) (1 069) (7 691) (7 687) (35 238)

Total 35 432 3 644 13 624 13 851 66 551

D. LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its financial commitments. The risk is minimised by holding cash balances, bank overdraft and by a floating 
loan facility.

The Group monitors liquidity risk by regularly projecting cash flows.

The below table details the maturity of financial assets and liabilities and is used by management to manage liquidity risks. The amounts disclosed in the below table 
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Undiscounted cash flows in respect of balances due within one year or less generally equal their carrying amounts in the 
statement of financial position as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The fair value of the derivative financial instruments fluctuates in line with interest rate movements. This value will reduce to nil on expiry date.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

R’000

Weighted average
effective interest rate

%
1 year

or less
1 – 5

years
More than

5 years Total

GROUP
Year ended 30 June 2020

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing debt 1 681 000 3 785 039 — 5 466 039

Other financial liabilities 1 812 54 567 — 56 379

Lease liability 7,4 3 813 13 443 54 761 72 018

Accounts payable 308 286 — — 308 286

Derivative financial instruments 147 321 503 843 — 651 163

 Interest rate swap contracts 108 565 252 014 — 360 579

 Call option and forward contracts 36 967 15 304 — 52 271

 Foreign exchange option contracts 6 982 4 028 — 11 010

 Cross-currency interest-rate swap contracts (5 194) 232 497 — 227 303

Total financial liabilities 2 142 232 4 356 891 54 761 6 553 884

Year ended 30 June 2019

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing debt ̂ 1 283 930 5 650 230 102 846 7 037 006

Other financial liabilities * 1 999 12 256 24 758 39 013

Accounts payable 283 491 — — 283 491 

Derivative financial instruments # 103 343 259 628 5 751 368 722

 Interest rate swap contracts 23 379 68 817 30 92 227

 Call option and forward contracts 7 664 7 006 — 14 670

 Foreign exchange option contracts 343 — — 343

 Cross-currency interest-rate swap contracts 71 957 183 804 5 721 261 482

Total financial liabilities 1 672 763 5 922 114 133 355 7 728 232

^  Interest-bearing debt liquidity analysis has been restated to reflect the undiscounted future cash flows from the discounted future cash flows, previously presented of: 1 – 5 years of R4 009 084; more than 5 years of Rnil.

*  Other financial liabilities restated in the prior period and associated liquidity risk presented.

#  Derivative financial instrument liquidity analysis has been restated to reflect the undiscounted future cash flows from the discounted future cash flows previously presented of: 1 – 5 years of R182 814; more than 5 years of Rnil.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

Cash and cash equivalents

It is the Group’s policy to deposit short-term cash investments with FirstRand Bank Limited, which has been given an AA+ rating.

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

R’000

Fair value
through profit

and loss
 Amortised 

 cost Total

GROUP
Year ended 30 June 2020

Financial assets
Other financial assets 19 360 — 19 360 

Derivative financial instruments 141 023 — 141 023 

Accounts receivable — 153 091 153 091

Loans receivable — 415 411 415 411

Cash and cash equivalents — 95 047 95 047

Total financial assets 160 383 663 549 823 932

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing debt — 5 179 061 5 179 061 

Other financial liabilities — 43 203 43 203 

Lease liability 39 587 39 587 

Derivative financial instruments 821 398 — 821 398 

Accounts payable — 308 286 308 286 

Total financial liabilities 821 398 5 570 137 6 391 535 

Year ended 30 June 2019

Financial assets
Listed property investment 759 716 — 759 716 

Other financial assets 30 822 — 30 822 

Derivative financial instruments 110 157 — 110 157 

Accounts receivable — 114 636 114 636 

Loans receivable — 455 906 455 906 

Cash and cash equivalents — 73 230 73 230 

Total financial assets 900 695 643 772 1 544 467 

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing debt — 5 293 013 5 293 013 

Other financial liabilities — 23 651 23 651

Derivative financial instruments 214 988 — 214 988

Accounts payable — 283 491 283 491

Total financial liabilities 214 988 5 576 504 5 791 492
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience as adjusted for current market conditions and other factors.

33.1 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Management makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates, assumptions and management judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are outlined in the following:

Investment properties

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused increased uncertainty in the current economic environment and property markets in which the Group operates.

The valuation of investment properties was determined principally using discounted cash flow projections, based on estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms 
of any existing lease contracts and by external evidence such as current market rentals for similar properties in the same location and condition, and using discount rates 
that reflect current market assessments, of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows. In light of the deteriorating macro-economic conditions and poor 
outlook, the Fund has increased its discount rates and exit capitalisation rates and has also adjusted the majority of its valuation inputs (void periods, market rentals, rental 
growth rates and perpetual vacancy rates).

The future rental rates were estimated depending on the actual location, type and quality of the properties and taking into account market data and projections at the 
valuation date, as well as the length of vacant periods following the expiry of existing lease agreements.

For further detail and sensitivity analysis, refer to note 6 and note 30.

Accounts receivable

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach in measuring expected credit losses (“ECL”) on rental debtors, which requires a lifetime loss allowance. To measure the 
ECLs, a provision matrix is used, where the rental debtors are Grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and into common ageing buckets. The Funds divisional 
structure reflects its exposure to different tenant Groups and ECL rate is calculated for each Group. The ECLs are calculated by using the provision matrix as well as taking 
into account amounts owing that have been specifically provided due to management’s assessments that they are credit impaired.

For further detail, refer to note 13.

Derivative financial instruments

The valuation of interest-rate swaps was determined using discounted cash flow projections, based on estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms of the 
relevant swap agreements and external evidence such as the ZAR 0-coupon perfect-fit swap curve (“the swap curve”). Future floating cash flows are determined using 
forward rates derived from the swap curve as at 30 June 2020. The net cash flows were discounted using the swap curve as at 30 June 2020.

The valuation of cross-currency interest-rate swaps was determined by discounting the future cash flows using the basis swap curve of the respective currencies at the 
dates when the cash flows will take place. Future floating cash flows are determined using forward rates derived from the basis swap curve of the respective currencies as 
at 30 June 2020. The net cash flows were discounted using the basis swap curve of the respective currencies as at 30 June 2020.

The valuation of the USD forward exchange contracts was determined by discounting the forward rates applied at 30 June 2020 to the open hedged positions.

The valuation of the forward contracts relating to the employee share scheme was determined using a cost of carry financial model. The model took into account the spot 
price as at 30 June 2020.

For further detail, refer to note 20 and note 30.

33.2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

Business combination versus asset acquisition

Management has assessed properties acquired during previous financial years and concluded that the assets acquired do not constitute a business as defined by 
IFRS 3 — Business Combinations due to the following:

 › Processes or significant ancillary services were not acquired, and therefore integrated sets of activities were not identified, and

 › The purchase price of the assets does not include an element of goodwill.

The acquisition of these properties was accounted for as the acquisition of assets and in line with IAS 40 — Investment Property.
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS CONTINUED

Current and deferred tax

In accordance with the Group’s status as a REIT, the distributions made in line with the Group’s distribution policy meet the requirements of a “qualifying distribution” 
for the purposes of section 25BB of the Income Tax Act, No. 58 of 1962 (“Income Tax Act”). In determining the tax obligation of the Group, the “qualifying distribution” is 
deducted from taxable profits. In addition, the Group is not liable for capital gains tax on the disposal of directly held properties. The Group was not liable for any capital 
gains tax on the disposal of its investment in GOZ on the basis that Emira holds less than 10% of the equity and that GOZ is a Property Company as defined by section 25BB 
of the Income Tax Act.

No deferred tax liabilities were raised on the “Allowance for future rental escalations”, “Unamortised upfront lease costs” and other balances as these will form part of 
the Group’s “qualifying distribution” in the future and are not expected to attract any tax.

BEE Transaction

The transaction Emira concluded in June 2017, in furtherance of its BEE strategy, with Tamela Holdings (Pty) Ltd (“Tamela”) and Letsema Holdings (Pty) Ltd (“Letsema”) 
is still in existence. Tamela Property Investments (Pty) Ltd (“Tamela SPV”) and Luxanio Trading 157 (Pty) Ltd (“Letsema SPV”), both wholly owned subsidiaries of Tamela 
Holdings and Letsema Holdings respectively, hold 26 133 364 shares (“Subscription Shares”) of the Company.

The original investment was funded by the BEE Parties as follows:

 › R182,1 million (50%) was funded by a vendor loan provided by Emira (the “Vendor Funding”). The Vendor Funding runs for a period of five years and bears interest equal 
to the dividend payable on the vendor loan portion of the underlying shares. The Vendor Funding is secured by means of a reversionary cession and pledge over the 
Subscription Shares;

 › R145,6 million (40%) was funded by external third-party debt provided to the BEE Parties; and

 › R36,4 million (10%) was funded by cash.

The Third Party Loan is secured by 100% of the Subscription Shares. The Lender has the ability to dispose of the Subscription Shares at any time if the market value thereof, 
based on the 5-day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”), is less than 1,6 times the Third Party Loan or if the closing price of Emira shares is less than 1,5 times the Third 
Party Loan (each a “Trigger Event”).

At 30 June 2020 there was R176,1 million (2019: R172,4 million) outstanding on the Vendor Funding. The maximum number of shares that will be issued on the repayment of 
the Vendor Funding is 12 370 510 shares (2019: 12 370 510), as a series of forwards, to be exercised a fixed price of R13,94 per share. Emira’s maximum exposure in the event 
that the third party funders dispose of the BEE Parties’ interest in Emira would be the balance of the Vendor Funding repayable in relation to the shares issued in respect 
of the Vendor Funding.

Accounting treatment of the BEE Transaction

Initial recognition
For accounting purposes, the BEE Transaction consists of two elements, which are accounted for as follows:

1.  The Cash Funded Specific Issue, being the subscription by the BEE Parties of 13 066 682 Subscription Shares for a cash consideration of approximately R182,1 million.

   This element of the Subscription Shares was funded by the BEE Parties using a combination of their own cash reserves and third party funding. Consequently, at 
inception, the cash proceeds, net of transaction costs, increased share capital and the number of Emira Shares in issue.

2.   The Vendor Funded Specific Issue, being the subscription by the BEE Parties for 13 066 682 Subscription Shares funded through the Vendor Funding provided by Emira, 
a portion of which was subsequently repaid.

   Based on management’s judgement and application of the control principles contained in IFRS 10: Consolidated financial statements, management concluded at 
inception that the Group does not exercise control and consequently did not consolidate Letsema SPV and Tamela SPV.

 › Emira does not hold shares in Letsema SPV or Tamela SPV;

 › Tamela and Letsema have the decision power over Tamela SPV and Letsema SPV respectively and therefore control, without any restrictions on them from Emira;

 › Emira has no decision-making powers over or involvement with the BEE parties;

 › Emira has neither substantive or protective rights that would result in Emira having power over decision making of Letsema SPV or Tamela SPV;

 › The BEE parties are responsible for obtaining and negotiating their own financing with third party funders. Emira was not involved during these discussions and has 
not provided any formal or informal guarantees in relation to the liabilities due to the third-party funders;

 › Emira has no step-in rights or call options relating to the BEE Transaction;

 › Emira will not provide any funding in addition to the Vendor Funding or liquidity to the BEE Parties and there is no intention to do so; and

 › Emira did not initially guarantee the amount owed by the BEE parties to third party funders nor did it intend to do so. The Third Party Loan is secured by 100% 
of the Subscription Shares. The Lender has the ability to dispose of the Subscription Shares at any time if the market value thereof, based on the 5-day volume 
weighted average price (“VWAP”), is less than 1,6 times the Third Party Loan or if the closing price of Emira shares is less than 1,5 times the Third Party Loan 
(each a “Trigger Event”).
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS CONTINUED

Considering the factors outlined prior to the guarantee being issued, the economic substance of the Vendor Funded Specific Issue is the granting of a call option on 
Emira Shares which was accounted for as an equity settled share-based payment arrangement in the year ended 30 June 2017 in terms of IFRS 2: Share based payments. 
Consequently, the Subscription Shares issued to the BEE Parties in terms of the outstanding Vendor Funded Specific Issue were not treated as issued for accounting 
purposes, until the Vendor Funding is settled or the BEE SPV’s are consolidated.

Re-assessment of control
IFRS 10.B80-85 requires control to be assessed on a continuous basis when facts and circumstances indicate a change in one or more elements of control.

During the year Emira’s share price reached a level that a Trigger Event occurred, largely due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Accordingly, the Lender became 
entitled to dispose of the Subscription Shares (“the Forced Disposal”), unless additional security was provided.

On 3 April 2020, as a result of the Trigger Event, Emira entered into a guarantee agreement (“Agreement”) with the Lender. In terms of the Agreement, Emira irrevocably 
and unconditionally guaranteed as a separate, principal and independent obligation to and in favour of the Lender, the payment and performance of the obligations of 
the BEE Shareholders arising in connection with the Third Party Loan, for a maximum guaranteed amount of R149,4 million for the BEE Shareholders.

The Guarantee and Emira’s obligations thereunder will terminate automatically on the earlier of:

(a)  The first date on which the market value of the Subscription Shares, based on the 30-day VWAP, compared to the outstanding amount of the Third Party Loan 
is greater than or equal to 2,00:1,00 (two to one) (“Asset Cover Ratio”), provided that the spot 30 day VWAP Asset Cover Ratio is also greater than or equal to 
2,00:1,00 (two to one) as at such date; or

(b) the date on which the Third Party Loan has been discharged.

As a result of the Agreement entered into, Emira is deemed to control the BEE SPV entities due to its exposure to losses from providing credit support and the ability 
to use its power to affect the returns it receives. Accordingly, the BEE SPV entities have been consolidated effective 3 April 2020.

During the year the BEE parties paid R9,2 million to the Company in respect of interest charged on the outstanding Vendor Funding prior to the consolidation of the BEE 
SPVs. Upon consolidation of the BEE SPVs, the Subscription Shares issued to the BEE Parties in terms of the outstanding Vendor Funded Specific Issue were recognised 
as issued in Emira Group and Company and treated as treasury shares for accounting purposes in Emira Group.

In the separate annual financial statements of Emira and due to the re-assessment that control is exercised over the BEE SPV’s, the Vendor Funding of R172,4 million was 
recognised at amortised cost together with the issued share capital of the Vendor Funding shares. The financial guarantee contracts were recognised and measured at 
the higher of the expected loss allowance and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate. However, due to the increased risk that 
SPV entities will default on the contract, the calculation was based on the lifetime expected credit losses as the difference between the expected payments to reimburse 
Lender and the value of the security at reporting date. Therefore a guarantee of R75.9 million was recognised for both Tamela and Letsema at reporting date based on the 
closing quoted market price of R6,49 per share.

ESA Trust

The ESA Trust (the “Trust”) is the designated vehicle which holds shares in terms of the share ownership plan for executive directors under the approved remuneration policy.

The beneficiaries of the Trust are the executive directors, namely: Geoff Jennett, Ulana Van Biljon and Greg Booyens.

On 27 June 2019 the Trust subscribed for 7 200 000 Emira shares at R13,8262 per share, for a total consideration of R99 548 640. The Trust funded the acquisition of as follows:

 › 40% funded by external third-party debt from Sanlam of R39,8 million.

 › 50% funded by a vendor loan from Emira to the ESA Trust of R49,8 million.

 › 10% funded by an amortising loan of R10,0 million from Emira to the ESA Trust in terms of which the ESA Trust beneficiaries stand personal surety.

The Emira shares held by the ESA Trust have been pledged to Sanlam. Sanlam has the ability to dispose of the Shares at any time if the market value thereof, based on the 
5- day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”), is less than 1,6 times the Sanlam loan or if the closing price of Emira shares is less than 1,5 times the Sanlam loan (each a 
“Trust Trigger Event”). The Trust Vendor Loan is secured by a reversionary cession and pledge over the Shares.

The ESA Trust has been assessed as a controlled special purpose vehicle and consolidated into the Group annual financial statements. The Emira shares held by the Trust 
are classified as treasury shares upon consolidation. In the separate financial statements of ESA Trust, the investment is recognised at fair value based on the quoted 
market price at the reporting date, together with the vendor loan, amortising loans and external interest-bearing debt measured at amortised cost.

Judgement was required in terms of measuring the economic substance of the shares issued to the ESA Trust and the associated funding thereof. It was determined that 
a call option was granted to the ESA Trust beneficiaries by Emira and has been measured in terms of IFRS 2, Share-based Payments, as an equity-settled share-based 
payment arrangement.

On initial recognition, being 28 June 2019, the date on which the ESA Trust acquired the shares, a once-off IFRS 2 charge of R6,7 million and corresponding share-based 
payment reserve was recognised in respect of the equity settled share-based payment arrangement.
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS CONTINUED

The assumptions used in this model included:

 › A spot price of R13,8262 per Emira share, being the Trust’s subscription price;

 › Volatility of 18,77% (based on historical trends in the Emira Share price);

 › A risk-free rate of 7,04%; and

 › An average dividend yield of 11,97% during the term of the option.

On 3 April 2020, as a result of the Trigger Event, Emira entered into a guarantee agreement (“Agreement”) with the Lender. In terms of the Agreement, Emira irrevocably 
and unconditionally guaranteed as a separate, principal and independent obligation to and in favour of Sanlam, the payment and performance of the obligations of the 
ESA Trust arising in connection with the Third Party Loan, for a maximum guaranteed amount of the loan value at reporting date of R40,8 million.

The Guarantee and Emira’s obligations thereunder will terminate automatically on the earlier of:

(a)  The first date on which the market value of the Subscription Shares, based on the 30-day VWAP, compared to the outstanding amount of the Sanlam loan is greater 
than or equal to 2,00:1,00 (two to one) (“Asset Cover Ratio”), provided that the spot 30 day VWAP Asset Cover Ratio is also greater than or equal to 2,00:1,00 (two to 
one) as at such date; or

(b) the date on which the Sanlam loan has been discharged.

The Guarantee reinforced the assessment that Emira controls the ESA Trust.

Investment in associates, joint ventures and other financial assets

The Group has investments in which judgement is required to assess if significant influence is exercised, whereby Emira effectively owns 20,0% or more of the issued 
share capital of the investee. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint 
control over these policies.

On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the investor’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the investor’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the 
investment is acquired. Any dividends received are utilised to reduce the carrying value of the investment.

Enyuka Property Fund (“Enyuka”)

Enyuka is the rural retail venture, between Emira and One Property Holdings (“One Prop”). Judgement has been applied in determining if Emira controls Enyuka through 
it’s 49,9% investment of which further details are provided below:

Terms of the transaction
On 2 September 2016, Emira entered into an shareholders’ agreement with One Prop (collectively the “Parties”) to form Enyuka, whereby Emira holds 49,9% of the ordinary 
share capital and voting rights while One Prop holds 50,1%. Emira contributed it’s 15-asset rural retail portfolio valued at R575 million to the new venture as a shareholder 
loan, while One Prop contributed cash of R50 million in the form of a shareholder loan. The transaction became effective on 16 January 2017 when the final suspensive 
conditions were met.

The following key conditions of the shareholders’ agreement at inception were imposed on One Prop as follows:

 › Growth targets in respect of properties under management (being the cost of the initial portfolio plus cost of acquisitions) were set at R750 million within 18 months of 
commencement and R900 million within 36 months. Failure to achieve these targets provided Emira with an option to acquire One Prop’s interest in Enyuka at fair value;

 › A key man event on One Prop’s two key persons, namely Chris van Reenen and Selwyn Smith. Per the shareholders agreement, if either of these individuals sold any of 
their shares in One Prop then Emira could call an exit event; and

 › One Prop required Emira’s consent for individual acquisitions of over R20 million in value.

In addition to the shareholders agreement, at inception, Enyuka entered into an asset management agreement with Enyuka Asset Management JV, a structure co-owned 
50% by Emira and 50% by One Prop. The asset management agreement requires unanimous approval of key decisions between Emira and One Prop.

Initial recognition
The following key factors of the funding structure and shareholders agreement were assessed as key elements that gave rise to the “de-facto” agency relationship 
between Emira and One Prop in terms of IFRS 10.B73:

 › One Prop obtained their 50,1% equity interest with a smaller proportion of funding. The majority of the funding to the initial structure was provided by Emira (92%) 
hence Emira effectively funded a portion of One Prop’s interest;

 › The shares held by One Prop could not be sold or encumbered without Emira’s prior approval;

 › The shareholders of One Prop are Key Persons, as defined, and Emira had a call option over the shares held by One Prop if the Key Persons were no longer involved in 
the day-to-day management of the Company; and

 › The restriction on asset purchases of R20 million was so low that it was effectively a substantive right for Emira.

Therefore, at initial recognition, it was determined that One Prop was acting as an agent on behalf of Emira, Emira retained power over the Investee and therefore, One 
Prop does not control the Investee when exercising its decision-making authority.
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS CONTINUED

Emira was deemed to control 100% of Enyuka despite it only holding 49,9% of the voting rights and One Prop’s 50,1% equity interest was assessed as an in-substance 
equity share-based payment at initial recognition.

The scope of IFRS 2 includes transactions where the identifiable consideration received appears to be less than the fair value of the equity instruments granted or liability 
incurred. One Prop obtained 50,1% of Enyuka’s ordinary equity at less than fair value as the majority of the value was funded by Emira. Emira only held 49,9% of the equity 
from a legal perspective, however if Enyuka was to liquidate at 30 June 2017 then 92% of the assets would essentially belong to Emira due to the disproportionate funding. 
As such, based on the initial shareholders agreement, it was determined that a share-based payment existed for the shares held by One Prop, which would vest upon certain 
performance conditions being met and the repayment of Emira’s funding.

At inception, the deemed call option was valued using a Black Scholes model.

Re-assessment of control and deconsolidation
IFRS 10.B80-85 requires control to be assessed on a continuous basis when facts and circumstances indicate a change in one or more elements of control.

In July 2017, following comfort from Emira on One Prop’s ability and intentions, the Parties agreed in principle to the following amendments to the shareholders 
agreement which were later ratified by Emira’s board:

 › The required growth targets for properties under management were removed, eliminating Emira’s option to acquire One Prop’s equity interest if these were not met;

 › The key man event relating to Chris van Reenen and Selwyn Smith was removed, which eliminated the requirement for them to be employed by One Prop;

 › An exit event was added which only triggers when any shareholder of One Prop disposes of more than 20% of their shareholding; and

 › Acquisitions requiring Emira’s consent were increased to R40 million in value.

In August 2017, due to amendments made to the shareholders agreement, the control assessment was reassessed, and it was determined that Emira had lost control 
and rather joint control of Enyuka existed with One Prop. The following factors were considered in determining the change from control to joint control:

 › The amendments removed the power that Emira previously held over Enyuka as well as its ability to influence the returns it achieves, both of which previously 
corroborated the assessment of control under the agency relationship;

 › An asset management agreement was in place between Enyuka and Enyuka Asset Management JV;

 › The asset management agreement requires unanimous consent from Emira and One Prop for decisions relating to the relevant activities of Enyuka; These are considered 
to be substantive rights, and as decisions regarding these requires the unanimous consent of Emira and One Prop, it prevents either Emira or One Prop from exercising 
unilateral control; and

 » The appointment and or removal of the asset manager;

 » Sale or transfer of substantial part of the business;

 » Amendments to the dividend policy;

 » Approval of any departure from the annual budget;

 » Acquisition or disposal of assets having a value of greater than R40 million;

 » Designation of an event as an exit event.

 › These are considered to be substantive rights, and as decisions regarding these requires the unanimous consent of Emira and One Prop, it prevents either Emira or One 
Prop from exercising unilateral control; and

 › Should there be a dispute between the parties, the matter is submitted for adjudication by an independent party.

Judgement was applied in the re-assessment of control and it was determined that effective from July 2017 Emira no longer controlled Enyuka, but instead had joint control. 
The Enyuka joint arrangement was setup in a standalone company and was therefore considered to be a joint venture between One Prop and Emira rather than a joint operation. 
The investment in Enyuka was therefore equity-accounted as in investment in joint venture from 1 July 2019.

The loss of control of Enyuka resulted in the recognition of a loss on deconsolidation of R0,4 million in Emira’s consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the 
year ended 30 June 2018. No consideration was received by Emira for the loss of control as no shares were sold. The investment in Enyuka was therefore equity-accounted 
as in investment in joint venture from 1 July 2019.

The control assessment of Enyuka was reconsidered for the year ended 30 June 2020 and it was assessed that there were no changes from the position at 30 June 2019.

The joint venture disclosures for Enyuka, which include the equity-accounted interests for the current year, are included in note 10.

Transcend Residential Property Fund (“Transcend”)

Transcend, which is listed on the AltX of the JSE, was identified as an avenue through which Emira could enhance the diversification of the Fund into the residential rental 
market, given Transcend’s expertise in specialised residential property assets and access to significant pipeline opportunities.

On 4 October 2018 Emira subscribed for 7 300 000 shares in Transcend at R6,26 per share for a total consideration of R45,9 million giving Emira an initial 9,9% interest in 
Transcend. On 13 December 2018 Emira subscribed for a further 38 382 283 Transcend shares at R6,46 per share for a total consideration of R247,9 million increasing its 
total equity interest to 34,9%. Geoff Jennett, Emira’s CEO, was simultaneously elected to the Transcend board as a non-executive director.

In addition to the equity investment, Emira provided a mezzanine loan of R143,4 million to Transcend on 13 December 2018 upon which a 1,5% raising fee was charged. 
During the year, R40 million of the R143,4 million mezzanine loan provided by Emira to Transcend was repaid leaving a balance of R103,4 million as at 30 June 2020. 
Post year end, in July 2020, a further R10 million was repaid with the remaining balance due on 30 June 2021. Interest is charged at a rate of 3 million JIBAR + 0,45%.

The investment in Transcend was initially recognised as a financial asset and accounted for on a fair value basis through profit and loss resulting in a fair value gain of 
R25,8 million. Upon making the second investment, Transcend was reclassified as an equity-accounted investment (associate), resulting in a bargain purchase gain of 
R129,0 million, being the difference between the cost and the fair value of net assets at acquisition, recognised in the year ended 30 June 2019.
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32. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS CONTINUED

Judgement was applied in determining the fair value of the net assets of Transcend at inception, which was based on the net asset value, rather than the underlying share 
price due to the illiquidity of the shares. Transcend initially listed on the AltX and moved to the JSE Main Board in the current period. The Transcend shares are owned by a 
limited number of core shareholders whom do not actively trade their shares and view their investment in Transcend as a long-term investment.

In light of the fact that Transcend’s shares are illiquid and do not trade in an active market, the net asset value of Transcend was considered to be more accurate measure 
of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of Transcend at initial recognition.

For further detail, refer to note 10.

Inani Property Fund (“Inani”)

In line with the portfolio rebalancing programme, Emira concluded an agreement on 5 October 2018 for the disposal of a R1,8 billion 25 office asset portfolio to Inani. The 
consideration was financed by Inani through a combination of senior debt (R1,38 billion) and equity (R105,9 million) of which Emira holds 20%, together with a mezzanine 
loan provided by Emira of R319,8 million. As at 30 June 2020, all properties had transferred to Inani, with 1059 Francis Baard transferring during the current financial 
period on 20 December 2019.

The Company has assessed that no significant influence is exercised over Inani. The investment in Inani has been classified as a financial asset through profit and loss. 
The following factors were assessed in determining if significant influence is exercised:

 › Emira has no representation on Inani’s board nor the right to appoint a director;

 › Inani is managed through an asset management joint venture between Zico and One, in which Emira has no involvement nor influence. The joint venture is responsible 
for all Inani’s policy making decisions;

 › There is no interchange of management personnel; and

 › Emira has not provided any security for the debt owed by Inani to third parties.

For further detail, refer to note 12.

33. RESTATEMENT

RE-PRESENTATION OF LOANS RECEIVABLE AND LOANS TO EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS

The short-term portion of loans to equity accounted investments and loans receivable for the year ended 30 June 2019, were restated to appropriately reflect the current portion 
of R40 million and R18,3 million respectively to accurately present the repayment and settlement terms of the underlying loans. The combined value of loans receivable and 
loans to equity accounted investments remained unchanged.

RE-PRESENTATION OF LOAN TO FEENSTRA PROPERTY GROUP (PTY) LTD

The loan from Feenstra Group (Pty) Ltd of R23,7 million was reclassified from interest bearing debt to other financial liabilities in the year ended 30 June 2019, to provide 
enhanced disclosure in respect of the nature of the loan as it should not form part of interest-bearing debt. The inclusion of the loan in interest bearing debt has an 
impact on the accuracy and consistency of the measurements of the Group’s loan to value ratio, which is a key Group metric. For further detail of the loan-to-value 
calculation please refer to note 31.

The change was applied retrospectively and the following line items were effected:

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R’000

Previously reported
Audited

30 June 2019 Restatement

Restated
Audited

30 June 2019

Non-current assets
Investments and loans in equity-accounted investments 2 315 524 (40 000) 2 275 524 
Loans receivable 455 906 (18 254) 437 652 

Current assets
Loans to equity-accounted investments — 40 000 40 000 
Loans receivable — 18 254 18 254 

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing debt 4 009 083 (23 651) 3 985 432 
Other financial liabilities — 23 651 23 651 

There was no further impact to the key metrics of the Group, including earnings per share and headline earnings per share.

RE-STATEMENT OF LIQUIDITY MATURITY ANALYSIS TABLE

The liquidity risk associated with the Group’s financial liabilities, presented as part of the maturity analysis table as per note 32, Risk Management, for the year ended 
30 June 2019 has been restated. The maturity analysis table was restated to accurately reflect the undiscounted cash flows in relation each of the financial liabilities, 
whereas discounted cash flows were previously presented, which is not in line with the requirements of IFRS 7, Financial Instruments Disclosure.

The changes resulting from the restatement are detailed within note 32, Risk Management.

There was no further impact to the key metrics of the Group, including earnings per share and headline earnings per share.
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